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  I. Procedural history 

1. On 20 January 2022, Trial Chamber I (‘the Chamber’) issued its first decision on 

the Prosecution’s request to introduce prior recorded testimonies under Rule 68(3) of 

the Rules of Procedure and Evidence (the ‘Rules’), setting out the general framework 

for the introduction of prior testimonies pursuant to this provision (the ‘First Rule 68(3) 

Decision’).1 

2. On 3 February 2022, the Prosecution filed its sixth application to introduce the 

prior recorded testimonies of 21 witnesses pursuant to Rule 68(3) of the Rules (the 

‘Sixth Request’).2 The witnesses concerned are: P-0027, P-0059, P-0060, P-0091, P-

0106, P-0119, P-0585, P-0592, P-0607, P-0617, P-0651, P-0697, P-0712, P-0725, P-

0726, P-0736, P-0850, P-0894, P-0895, P-0926, and P-0980.  

3. On 8 February 2022, the Chamber issued its decision on the Prosecution’s second 

and third requests to introduce prior recorded testimonies under Rule 68(3) (the ‘Second 

Rules 68(3) Decision’).3  

4. On 18 February 2022, the Defence filed its response to the Sixth Request (the 

‘Response’).4  

                                                 

1 First Decision on the Prosecution’s request to introduce prior recorded testimonies under Rule 68(3), 

ICC-02/05-01/20-559-Conf. A public redacted version was notified on that same date, ICC-02/05-01/20-

559-Red (hereinafter: ‘First Rule 68(3) Decision’). 
2 Prosecution’s sixth application under rule 68(3) to introduce into evidence prior recorded testimony of 

21 witnesses, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf with confidential annex A. A public redacted version was 

notified on 8 February 2022, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Red (hereinafter: ‘Sixth Request’). 
3 Decision on the Prosecution’s second and third requests to introduce prior recorded testimonies under 

Rule 68(3), ICC-02/05-01/20-588-Conf. A public redacted version was notified on that same date, ICC-

02/05-01/20-588-Red (hereinafter: ‘Second Rule 68(3) Decision’). See also Decision on the Defence’s 

request for leave to appeal the Decision on the Prosecution’s second and third requests to introduce prior 

recorded testimonies under Rule 68(3), 23 February 2022, ICC-02/05-01/20-605.  
4 Defence response to Prosecution’s sixth application under rule 68(3) to introduce into evidence prior 

recorded testimony of 21 witnesses, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf. A public 

redacted version was notified on 21 February 2022, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Red (hereinafter: ‘Response’). 

On 8 February 2022, the Chamber granted the Defence’s request for an extension of time limit to respond 

to the Sixth Request, See Transcript of hearing, 8 February 2022, ICC-02/05-01/20-T-022-CONF-ENG, 

p. 30, lines 1-16. 
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5. On 21 February 2022, the Chamber issued its decision on the Prosecution’s fourth 

and fifth requests to introduce prior recorded testimonies under Rule 68(3) (the ‘Third 

Rules 68(3) Decision’).5 

  II. Analysis 

6. The Chamber incorporates by reference the general framework applicable to the 

assessment of requests for introduction of prior recorded statements pursuant to Rule 

68(3) of the Rules.6 

7. In the Sixth Request, the Prosecution notes that, after inter partes consultation, 

the Defence did not agree to the introduction of the prior recorded testimonies of any 

of the witnesses identified in the Sixth Request.7 However, in its Response, the Defence 

stated that it does not oppose the Request in respect of witnesses P-0712 and P-0725.8 

A. General objections raised by the Defence  

8. First, with regard to witnesses P-0059, P-0106, P-0119, P-0585, P-0607, P-0617 

and P-0651, the Defence submits that little time would be saved if each of them testified 

under Rule 68(3) of the Rules and that this cannot outweigh the Defence’s interest in 

the witnesses testifying entirely viva voce.9 The Chamber reiterates that admission 

under Rule 68(3) contributes to the expeditious conduct of the trial.10 

9. Second, incorporating by reference its previous submissions, the Defence repeats 

its previous submission,11 that all witness statements are inadmissible as a result of the 

erroneous marking as ‘restricted’ instead of ‘confidential’.12 This has been ruled upon 

by this Chamber on multiple occasions.13 Equally the Chamber reiterates —it is to be 

                                                 

5 Decision on the Prosecution’s fourth and fifth request to introduce prior recorded testimonies under 

Rule 68(3), ICC-02/05-01/20-602-Conf, A public redacted version was filed on that same date, ICC-

02/05-01/20-602-Red (hereinafter: ‘Third Rule 68(3) Decision’). 
6 First Rule 68(3) Decision, ICC-02/05-01/20-559-Conf, paras 7-17. 
7 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 105. The Defence nevertheless objects generally to 

the lack of compliance with the Court’s Information Protection Policy and to the admissibility of witness 

statements taken in non-States parties. 
8 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 2. 
9 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, paras 12, 16-18, 20-22. 
10 Third Rule 68(3) Decision, ICC-02/05-01/20-602-Conf, para. 11. 
11 Réponse à la Requête ICC-02/05-01/20-547-Conf, 5 January 2022, ICC-02/05-01/20-549-Conf, paras 

14-15. A public redacted version was notified on 10 January 2022, ICC-02/05-01/20-549-Red. 
12 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 5. 
13 First Decision on the Prosecution’s requests to introduce prior recorded testimonies under Rule 

68(2)(b), 2 March 2022, ICC-02/05-01/20-612-Conf, para. 21. A public redacted version was notified on 

the same date, ICC-02/05-01/20-612-Red (hereinafter: ‘First Rule 68(2)(b) Decision’). See also Decision 
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hoped for the last time— that it is not necessary for the Defence to repeat submissions 

on which rulings have been made, in order to preserve the appeal rights of the accused.14 

10. Third, for the record and to preserve Mr Abd-Al-Rahman’s appeal rights, the 

Defence incorporates, by reference, its submissions on the absence of a valid special 

agreement under Article 4(2) of the Rome Statute (the ‘Statute’) between the Court and 

non-States Parties, including Sudan, where some of the witnesses in the Sixth Request 

may have been interviewed.15 The Defence does not identify any specific witness in the  

Sixth Request who may be the subject of this objection.16 The Chamber notes that this 

issue also has been raised in previous written and oral submissions, and previously been 

ruled upon.17 Accordingly, the Chamber will disregard this aspect of the Defence’s 

submissions.18 

B. Reliability of the prior recorded testimonies 

11. In respect of all witnesses in the Sixth Request, except for P-0712 and P-0725, 

the Defence incorporates, by reference, its previous submissions relating to the witness 

statement-taking process which in its view produces unreliable statements and which, 

if introduced via Rule 68(3) of the Rules would result in prejudice to the accused.19 

12. The Defence also questions the reliability of the prior statements of P-0059, P-

0060, P-0106, P-0585, P-0592, P-0607, P-0617, P-0697, P-0736 and P-0894, on the 

                                                 

on the Defence’s requests for leave to appeal the oral decisions on the inadmissibility of evidence and 

victims’ participation, 2 December 2021, ICC-02/05-01/20-525; Transcript of hearing, 12 November 

2021, ICC-02/05-01/20-T-017-Red-ENG, p. 36, line 12 to p. 42, line 10; p. 47, line 9 to p. 48, line 21; 

First Rule 68(3) Decision, ICC-02/05-01/20-559-Red, paras 18-19.  
14 First Rule 68(2)(b) Decision, ICC-02/05-01/20-612-Conf, para. 21. 
15 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 6. See Defence’s Response to Request ICC-02/05-01/20-

555-Conf, 31 January 2022, ICC-02/05-01/20-568-Conf, paras 5-11. A public redacted version was 

notified on 1 February 2022, ICC-02/05-01/20-568-Red. 
16 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 6 
17 First Rule 68(2)(b) Decision, ICC-02/05-01/20-612-Conf, para. 24, referring to Second Rule 68(3) 

Decision, ICC-02/05-01/20-588-Conf, paras 9-17. See also Decision on Defence submissions on 

cooperation with Sudan, 21 January 2022, ICC-02/05-01/20-561-Conf. A public redacted version was 

notified on that same date, ICC-02/05-01/20-561-Red. 
18 First Rule 68(2)(b) Decision, ICC-02/05-01/20-612-Conf, para. 24; Second Rule 68(3) Decision, ICC-

02/05-01/20-588-Conf, paras 9-17; Decision on the Defence’s request for leave to appeal the Decision 

on the Prosecution’s second and third requests to introduce prior recorded testimonies under Rule 68(3), 

23 February 2022, ICC-02/05-01/20-605. 
19 Transcript of hearing, 8 February 2022, ICC-02/05-01/20-T-022-CONF-ENG, p. 11, line 21 to p. 21, 

line 15. 
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ground that ‘they either did not complete their primary education, or otherwise only 

received very rudimentary education’.20  

13. As regards the issues of reliability raised by the Defence, the Chamber recalls its 

prior rulings on the matter.21 In particular, the Chamber emphasises that, as determined 

by the Appeals Chamber, reliability is to be considered on a case-by-case basis and the 

Chamber has wide discretion as to whether to take into account only formal 

requirements, or take into account other factors.22 Moreover, Rule 68(3) of the Rules 

allows the Defence to cross-examine witnesses regarding their evidence, reliability and 

credibility.23 

14.  Accordingly, the Chamber rejects the over-arching objections made by the 

Defence. This is without prejudice to the Chamber’s case-by-case analysis below, 

particularly bearing in mind the rights of the accused.   

15. The Chamber emphasises that the only matters it is able to consider, when making 

its decision on individual witnesses, are those specified in the prosecution application 

and the Defence Response. 

C. The prior recorded testimonies  

P-0027 

16. P-0027, a Fur civilian, is a witness of alleged incidents in Deleig and surrounding 

areas, particularly in relation to the charges of torture, outrages upon personal dignity, 

cruel treatment, and other inhumane acts.24 

                                                 

20 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 8. 
21 First Rule 68(2)(b) Decision, ICC-02/05-01/20-612-Conf, para. 25; Third Rule 68(3) Decision, ICC-

02/05-01/20-602-Conf, paras 8-15; Second Rule 68(3) Decision, ICC-02/05-01/20-588-Conf, para. 59; 

Transcript of hearing, ICC-02/05-01/20-T-022-CONF, p. 17, line 21 to p. 18, line 3. See also 

jurisprudence referred to in the Third Rule 68(3) Decision, fn. 18. 
22 First Rule 68(2)(b) Decision, ICC-02/05-01/20-612-Conf, para. 25. See also Third Rule 68(3) 

Decision, ICC-02/05-01/20-602-Conf, para. 14, referring to Appeals Chamber, The Prosecutor v. 

Laurent Gbagbo and Charles Blé Goudé, Judgment on the appeals of Mr Laurent Gbagbo and Mr Charles 

Blé Goudé against the decision of Trial Chamber I of 9 June 2016 entitled “Decision on the Prosecutor’s 

application to introduce prior recorded testimony under Rules 68(2)(b) and 68(3)”, 1 November 2016, 

ICC-02/11-01/15-744 (OA8), paras 101-103. 
23 Second Rule 68(3) Decision, ICC-02/05-01/20-588-Conf, para. 59; Transcript of hearing, ICC-02/05-

01/20-T-022-CONF, p. 14, lines 23 et seq. See also Third Rule 68(3) Decision, ICC-02/05-01/20-602-

Conf, paras 8-15. 
24 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 10. 

ICC-02/05-01/20-630-Red 16-03-2022 6/50 EC T 



No: ICC-02/05-01/20  7/50  16 March 2022 

17. As regards the accused, the witness’s evidence refers to his alleged presence and 

actions in Deleig, and particularly outside Deleig police station.25 

18. The prior recorded testimony of P-0027 includes three witness statements taken 

by the Prosecution in February 2006, November 2020 and December 2021.26 

Additionally, the Prosecution seeks the submission of associated material, namely, 

photographs and videos of P-0027, as well as P-0027’s identification documents, an 

investigator’s report and a medical certificate.27 

19. The Prosecution requests one hour to conduct a supplementary examination 

(instead of the 4.5 hours estimated for viva voce examination).28 

20. The Defence objects to the introduction of this prior recorded testimony pursuant 

to Rule 68(3) of the Rules. First, it submits that parts of the testimony refer to the alleged 

involvement of ‘Ali Koshib’ in uncharged incidents,29 as well as the charged incident 

in Deleig.30 The Defence also refers to P-0027’s evidence on the identification of ‘Ali 

Koshib’ purportedly as someone [REDACTED] and describing him as the head of the 

Militia/Janjaweed in Garsila.31 The Defence refers to P-0027’s [REDACTED] and 

conversations which P-0027 overheard about him, [REDACTED] ‘Ali Koshib’ 

apparently spoke with either the President or Vice-President.32  

21. The Chamber notes the Prosecution’s submission that the evidence of P-0027 is 

corroborative of, and cumulative to, other witnesses who will testify entirely viva voce 

on the alleged incidents in Deleig and surrounding areas, particularly the alleged 

targeting and detention of Fur men who were displaced to Deleig from the surrounding 

areas;33 and their alleged detention and mistreatment in the open area near Deleig police 

station.34 The Chamber further notes that P-0027’s evidence in this regard is not unique 

                                                 

25 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 10. 
26 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 11. 
27 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 12 and Annex A. 
28 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, paras 13-14. 
29 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 11, referring to DAR-OTP-0094-0091, paras 33-39. 
30 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 11, referring to DAR-OTP-0094-0091, paras 44, 48-50, 

58. 
31 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 11, referring to DAR-OTP-0094-0091, para. 65.  
32 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 11, referring to DAR-OTP-0094-0091, paras 66-73 and 

DAR-OTP-0216-0738, para. 28. 
33 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 96, referring to P-0584, P-0671, P-0718, P-0907, P-

0924, P-0973, P-0987 and P-0994. 
34 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 96, referring to P-0584, P-0671, P-0718, P-0879, P-

0905, P-0907, P-0924, P-0931, P-0973, P-0987 and P-0994. 
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or otherwise particularly significant in the body of the expected evidence on this 

incident. In fact, in paragraphs 48 and 49 of the witness statement,35 P-0027 accepts 

that he did not actually see the arrival of the Militia/Janjaweed in Deleig in the 

beginning of March 2004, but was told about it by someone else. In paragraph 50 of the 

witness statement,36 although P-0027 is an eyewitness of the treatment of detainees at 

Deleig police station, his evidence in this regard is not unique and is, as noted above, 

corroborative of and cumulative to that of other civilians who will testify viva voce.  

22. As regards the acts and conduct of the accused, and in addition to the conclusions 

set out previously by the Chamber,37 the Chamber notes the Prosecution’s submission 

that the evidence of P-0027 on the accused’s alleged mistreatment of detainees in the 

open area near Deleig police station;38 his alleged involvement in and supervision of 

the loading of detainees, including community leaders, onto vehicles, which drove out 

of Deleig and returned empty, is corroborative of and cumulative to that of other 

witnesses who will testify viva voce.39 Further, the Chamber notes the Prosecution’s 

submission that parts of the testimony relating to the identification and position of ‘Ali 

Koshib’ are also corroborative of and cumulative to the evidence of other witnesses 

who will testify entirely viva voce.40 

23. Nonetheless, the Chamber notes in particular those parts of P-0027’s testimony 

referred to by the Defence in which the witness allegedly had direct interaction with 

‘Ali Koshib’.41 P-0027 provides detailed evidence about the accused which is unique, 

given P-0027’s alleged [REDACTED].42   

                                                 

35 DAR-OTP-0094-0091, paras 48-49. 
36 DAR-OTP-0094-0091, para 50. 
37 First Rule 68(3) Decision, ICC-02/05-01/20-559-Conf, paras. 20-25; Third Rule 68(3) Decision, ICC-

02/05-01/20-602-Conf, para 7;  
38 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 96, referring to P-0584, P-0671, P-0879, P-0907, P-

0924, P-0973 and P-0994. 
39 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 96, referring to P-0584, P-0879, P-0905, P-0907, P-

0924, P-0973, P-0987 and P-0994. 
40 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 97, referring to P-0012, P-0029, P-0117, P-0129, P-

0131, P-0589, P-0643, P-0718, P-0769, P-0874, P-0878, P-0879, P-0883, P-0885, P-0903, P-0905, P-

0907, P-0921, P-0932, P-0973, P-0986, P-0987, P-0990, P-0994 and P-1021. 
41 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 11, referring to DAR-OTP-0094-0091, paras 65-73 and 

DAR-OTP-0216-0738, para. 28. 
42 DAR-OTP-0094-0091, paras 65-73.  
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24. Although the factors discussed above are not, per se, an obstacle to authorising 

the introduction of evidence under Rule 68(3) of the Rules, in the instant case, P-0027’s 

evidence, which is based on his alleged direct interaction with and proximity to ‘Ali 

Koshib’ during the period relevant to the charges, is sufficiently detailed and unique. 

Accordingly, the Chamber, in this particular circumstance, determines that it is 

preferable that the entirety of P-0027’s evidence is heard viva voce. 

P-0059 

25. P-0059, a Fur [REDACTED], provides evidence relating to elements of 

individual criminal responsibility of the accused, particularly the actions and role of the 

accused as the Militia/Janjaweed commander in Wadi Salih.43 

26. Together with the witness statement, the Prosecution seeks the submission of 

associated material, namely, three sketches drawn by P-0059 and 18 photographs of P-

0059.44 

27. The Prosecution requests one hour to conduct a supplementary examination 

(instead of the three hours estimated for viva voce examination).45 

28. The Defence objects to the introduction of this prior recorded testimony pursuant 

to Rule 68(3) of the Rules, noting parts of the statement which refer to the senior 

position of ‘Ali Kosheb’46 in the Militia/Janjaweed,47 as well as the physical description 

and nickname of ‘Ali Kosheb’.48 The Defence notes that P-0059 describes ‘Ali Kosheb’ 

as having both of his ears pierced, whereas neither of Mr Abd-Al-Rahman’s ears are 

pierced.49  

29.  The Chamber notes the Prosecution’s submission that the evidence of P-0059 is 

corroborative of and cumulative to other witnesses who will testify entirely viva voce 

on the alleged leadership position of accused in the Militia/Janjaweed;50 and the 

                                                 

43 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 15. 
44 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 16 and Annex A. 
45 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, paras 17-18. 
46 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 12, referring to DAR-OTP-0095-0095, paras 133, 139. 
47 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 12, referring to DAR-OTP-0095-0095, para. 120. 
48 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 12, referring to DAR-OTP-0095-0095, paras 133, 139. 
49 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 12, referring to DAR-OTP-0095-0095, para. 139. 
50 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 97, referring to P-0012, P-0029, P-0129, P-0131, P-

0589, P-0643, P-0718, P-0874, P-0878, P-0883, P-0885, P-0903, P-0905, P-0907, P-0921, P-0987, P-

0994 and P-1021. 
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evidence on the alleged involvement of the accused in the recruitment, training, arming, 

funding and distribution of other resources to the Militia/Janjaweed by the Government 

of Sudan.51 The Chamber notes that P-0059’s evidence in this regard is not unique or 

otherwise particularly significant in the body of the expected evidence. In fact, in 

paragraph 120 of the statement, [REDACTED].52 In paragraphs 121 and 130 referred 

to by the Defence, [REDACTED].53 

30. The Chamber notes that P-0059’s description of ‘Ali Kosheb’ as having both of 

his ears pierced, is in a sense unique, [REDACTED] and allegedly saw the accused at 

the time.54 The Chamber notes that, should the Defence desire to cross-examine on this 

point, which –if the assertion that Mr Abd-Al-Rahman does not in fact have pierced 

ears be borne out by evidence– is a point which is in their favour, they will have ample 

opportunity to question the witness regarding the alleged physical description of ‘Ali 

Kosheb’ and any purported discrepancies between P-0059’s testimony and that of other 

witnesses, as well as P-0059’s evidence on the alleged leadership position of ‘Ali 

Kosheb’ in the Militia/Janjaweed and his alleged nickname.55 The Chamber further 

notes that P-0059’s evidence on the nickname of ‘Ali Kosheb’,56 has little significance 

in the body of the expected evidence on the issue of the identity of the accused. 

31. The Chamber is satisfied that the introduction of P-0059’s prior recorded 

testimony will not occasion any prejudice to the accused. 

P-0060 

32. P-0060, a Fur [REDACTED], provides testimony on the alleged incidents in 

Deleig and surrounding areas, and the contextual elements of the crimes.57 

33. As regards the accused, the witness’s evidence refers to his identity and 

background, his alleged position as a senior leader of the Militia/Janjaweed, his alleged 

                                                 

51 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 100, referring to P-0011, P-0012, P-0029, P-0131, 

P-0547, P-0643, P-0878, P-0883, P-0885, P-0905, P-0921, P-0992, P-0984, P-0994 and P-1021. 
52 DAR-OTP-0095-0095, para. 120. 
53 DAR-OTP-0095-0095, para. 120. 
54 DAR-OTP-0095-0095, para. 139. 
55 DAR-OTP-0095-0095, para. 133. 
56 DAR-OTP-0095-0095, para. 133. 
57 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 19. 

ICC-02/05-01/20-630-Red 16-03-2022 10/50 EC T 



No: ICC-02/05-01/20  11/50  16 March 2022 

cooperation with Government of Sudan Forces, and his alleged presence and 

participation in the Deleig operation.58 

34. Together with the witness statement, the Prosecution seeks the submission of 

associated material, namely, four maps and two sketches drawn by P-0060, an index, 

four photographs of P-0060 and an investigator’s note.59 

35. The Prosecution requests one hour to conduct a supplementary examination 

(instead of the 4.5 hours estimated for viva voce examination).60 

36. The Defence objects to the introduction of this prior recorded testimony pursuant 

to Rule 68(3) of the Rules, noting parts of the statement which refer to the alleged 

position and identity of ‘Ali Koshib’,61 and the alleged presence, authority and 

participation of ‘Ali Koshib’ in the Government of Sudan operation in Deleig.62 The 

Defence notes P-0060’s description of the purported involvement of ‘Ali Koshib’ in 

weapons distribution and Militia/Janjaweed training activities in 2001,63 and observes 

that the Prosecution does not attempt to show that this evidence is corroborative of the 

expected testimony of other witnesses who are due to provide viva voce evidence.64 

37. The Chamber notes the Prosecution’s submission that the evidence of P-0060 is 

corroborative of and cumulative to other witnesses who will testify entirely viva voce 

on the alleged search and arrest of Fur men displaced to Deleig from the surrounding 

areas;65 the alleged detention and mistreatment of Fur civilian men in the open area near 

Deleig police station;66 the alleged loading of detainees onto vehicles, which drove out 

of Deleig and returned empty, and the alleged repeating of this process multiple times;67 

the alleged presence of the accused during and purported supervision of the process of 

                                                 

58 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 19. 
59 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 20 and Annex A. 
60 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, paras 21-22. 
61 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 13, referring to DAR-OTP-0097-0328, para. 22. 
62 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 13, referring to DAR-OTP-0097-0328, paras 19-22, 53-

56. 
63 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 13, referring to DAR-OTP-0097-0328, paras 19-22. 
64 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 13. 
65 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 96, referring to P-0584, P-0671, P-0718, P-0907, P-

0924, P-0973, P-0987 and P-0994. 
66 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 96, referring to P-0584, P-0671, P-0718, P-0879, P-

0905, P-0907, P-0924, P-0931, P-0973, P-0987 and P-0994. 
67 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 96, referring to P-0584, P-0879, P-0905, P-0907, P-

0924, P-0973, P-0987 and P-0994. 
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loading detainees onto vehicles;68 the alleged sighting of a group of community leaders 

in a convoy with the accused in Deleig;69 and the alleged identity of the accused.70  

38. As regards the acts and conduct of the accused, and in addition to the conclusions 

set out previously by the Chamber,71 the Chamber notes the Prosecution’s submission 

that P-0060’s evidence in relation to the accused’s alleged involvement and authority 

in the Government of Sudan operation in Deleig is corroborative of and cumulative to 

other witnesses who will testify entirely viva voce.72 The Chamber also notes the 

Prosecution’s submission that P-0060’s evidence on the alleged position and identity 

of the accused is corroborative of and cumulative to other witnesses who will testify 

entirely viva voce.73 

39. As regards P-0060’s evidence on the purported involvement of ‘Ali Koshib’ in 

weapons distribution and Militia/Janjaweed training activities in 2001,74 the Chamber 

notes that P-0060’s account, [REDACTED], constitutes a small part of the expected 

body of evidence on the accused’s alleged role and cooperation with the Government 

of Sudan, particularly in relation to the distribution of weapons.75  

40. The Chamber is satisfied that the introduction of P-0060’s prior recorded 

testimony will not occasion any prejudice to the accused since Rule 68(3) of the Rules 

allows for cross-examination. The Defence will have adequate opportunity to question 

the witness on issues identified as core to its case, particularly the identity of the 

accused. Specifically, the Defence will also have the opportunity to question the witness 

on the witness’s evidence as regards the presence, authority and participation of ‘Ali 

                                                 

68 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 96, referring to P-0584, P-0879, P-0905, P-0907, P-

0924, P-0973, P-0987 and P-0994. 
69 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 96, referring to P-0907, P-0973, P-0987 and P-0994. 
70 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 97, referring to P-0012, P-0117, P-0589, P-0643, P-

0769, P-0874, P-0878, P-0879, P-0883, P-0903, P-0905, P-0907, P-0921, P-0932, P-0973, P-0986, P-

0987, P-0990 and P-0994. 
71 See First Rule 68(3) Decision, ICC-02/05-01/20-559-Conf, paras 20-25; Third Rule 68(3) Decision, 

ICC-02/05-01/20-602-Conf, para. 7;  
72 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 96, referring to P-0584, P-0671, P-0879, P-0907, P-

0924, P-0973 and P-0994. 
73 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 98, referring to P-0012, P-0117, P-0589, P-0643, P-

0769, P-0874, P-0878, P-0879, P-0883, P-0903, P-0905, P-0907, P-0921, P-0932, P-0973, P-0986, P-

0987, P-0990 and P-0994. 
74 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 13, referring to DAR-OTP-0097-0328, paras 19-28. 
75 See Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 100, referring to P-0011, P-0012, P-0029, P-

0131, P-0547, P-0643, P-0878, P-0883, P-0885, P-0905, P-0921, P-0992, P-0984, P-0994 and P-1021. 

See also Prosecution’s submission of the List of Witnesses and the List of Evidence, 5 January 2022, 

ICC-02/05-01/20-551-Conf-Exp-Anx2.   
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Koshib’ in the Government of Sudan operation in Deleig and his alleged role in the 

distribution of weapons. 

P-0091 

41. P-0091, who [REDACTED], provides testimony regarding the accused’s alleged 

senior leadership in the Militia/Janjaweed and collaboration with Government of Sudan 

officials, including Ja’afar Abd-Al-Hakam.76 

42. Together with the witness statement, the Prosecution seeks the submission of a 

sketch drawn by P-0091.77 

43. The Prosecution requests one hour to conduct a supplementary examination 

(instead of the 4.5 hours estimated for viva voce examination).78 

44. The Defence objects to the introduction of this prior recorded testimony pursuant 

to Rule 68(3) of the Rules, noting parts of the statement which refer to the identity of 

‘Ali Kosheib’,79 his alleged involvement in attacks on Bindisi and Arawalla,80 his 

alleged position as ‘Agid Al Oquada’,81 his alleged involvement in the distribution of 

weapons,82 and his alleged involvement in the arrest and killing of approximately 123 

detainees mainly from the Fur tribe and the IDP population.83 The Defence also 

questions the credibility of P-0091, specifically referring to a part of his testimony 

where he recounts the content of [REDACTED].84 

45. The Chamber notes the Prosecution’s submission that the evidence of P-0091 is 

corroborative of and cumulative to other witnesses who will testify entirely viva voce 

on the alleged detention and mistreatment of Fur civilian men in the open area near the 

                                                 

76 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 23. 
77 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 22 and Annex A. 
78 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, paras 25-26. 
79 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 14, referring to DAR-OTP-0112-0142, paras 39-45, 51-

52, 61, 80-85, 91-92, 102-104. 
80 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 14, referring to DAR-OTP-0112-0142, para. 39. 
81 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 14, referring to DAR-OTP-0112-0142, paras 41-43, 61. 
82 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 14, referring to DAR-OTP-0112-0142, paras 51, 61, 82. 
83 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 14, referring to DAR-OTP-0112-0142, para. 102. 
84 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 15, referring to DAR-OTP-0112-0142, paras 40-44. 
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Deleig police station;85 and the alleged leadership position of the accused in the 

Militia/Janjaweed.86 

46. As regards the acts and conduct of the accused, and in addition to the conclusions 

set out previously by the Chamber,87 the Chamber notes that P-0091’s evidence on the 

alleged involvement of ‘Ali Kosheib’ in the distribution of weapons,88 and his alleged 

involvement in the arrest and killing of approximately 123 detainees mainly from the 

Fur tribe and the IDP population,89 are corroborative of and cumulative to other 

witnesses who will testify entirely viva voce. 

47. As regards P-0091’s testimony on the content of three documents mistakenly left 

behind by [REDACTED].90 The Chamber notes P-0091’s evidence in this regard. 

However, the Defence will have sufficient opportunity to question the witness on this 

issue identified as core to its case, as little else in the statement appears to be in dispute.  

48. The Chamber is satisfied that the introduction of P-0091’s prior recorded 

testimony will not occasion any prejudice to the accused since Rule 68(3) of the Rules 

allows for cross-examination. 

P-0106 

49. P-0106, a Fur cattle herder and farmer, provides evidence relating to alleged 

incidents in Deleig and surrounding areas; particularly in relation to the charges of 

murder, torture, outrages upon personal dignity, cruel treatment, and other inhumane 

acts.91 P-0106 also provides information on the contextual elements of the crimes.92 

                                                 

85 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 96, referring to P-0584, P-0671, P-0718, P-0879, P-

0905, P-0907, P-0924, P-0931, P-0973, P-0987 and P-0994. 
86 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 97, referring to P-0012, P-0029, P-0129, P-0131, P-

0589, P-0643, P-0718, P-0874, P-0878, P-0883, P-0885, P-0903, P-0905, P-0907, P-0921, P-0987, P-

0994 and P-1021. 
87 See First Rule 68(3) Decision, ICC-02/05-01/20-559-Conf, paras 20-25; Third Rule 68(3) Decision, 

ICC-02/05-01/20-602-Conf, para. 7. 
88 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 100, referring to P-0011, P-0012, P-0029, P-0131, 

P-0547, P-0643, P-0878, P-0883, P-0885, P-0905, P-0921, P-0992, P-0984, P-0994 and P-1021. 
89 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 97, referring to P-0643, P-0671, P-0879, P-0883, P-

0907, P-0973, P-0987, P-0994 and P-1018. 
90 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 15, referring to DAR-OTP-0112-0142, paras 40-44. 
91 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 27. 
92 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 27. 
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50. As regards the accused, the witness’s evidence refers to his alleged actions in 

Deleig, and his alleged role in the distribution of weapons and other military equipment 

to the Militia/Janjaweed.93 

51. The Prosecution does not seek the submission of any associated material with the 

witness statement.94 

52. The Prosecution requests one hour to conduct a supplementary examination 

(instead of the three hours estimated for viva voce examination).95 

53. The Defence objects to the introduction of this prior recorded testimony pursuant 

to Rule 68(3) of the Rules, noting parts of the statement which refer to the identity and 

position of the Ali Kushayb,96 his physical description,97 his alleged leadership in the 

Militia/Janjaweed, his recruitment by Ja’far Abd-al-Hakam in the Militia/Janjaweed,98 

his alleged involvement in the distribution of weapons,99 and his alleged involvement 

in the detention, mistreatment and murder of detainees in Deleig.100 

54. The Chamber notes the agreed facts relating to the background of the accused,101 

and the Prosecution’s submissions that these facts are corroborated by P-0106.102 

55. As regards the alleged incidents in Deleig, the Chamber notes the Prosecution’s 

submission that the evidence of P-0106 is corroborative of and cumulative to other 

witnesses who will testify entirely viva voce on the alleged search and arrest of Fur 

males displaced to Deleig from the surrounding areas;103 the alleged  use of derogatory 

language towards the Fur during the Government of Sudan operation in Deleig;104 the 

alleged detention and mistreatment of male Fur civilians in the open area near Deleig 

                                                 

93 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 27. 
94 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 28. 
95 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, paras 29-30. 
96 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 16, referring to DAR-OTP-0116-1005, paras 24-28, 31-

33, 45. 
97 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 16, referring to DAR-OTP-0116-1005, para. 27. 
98 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 16, referring to DAR-OTP-0116-1005, paras 25-26, 45. 
99 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 16, referring to DAR-OTP-0116-1005, paras 31-33. 
100 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 16, referring to DAR-OTP-0116-1005, paras 70-77. 
101 Annex A to the Third Joint Prosecution and Defence Submission on Agreed facts, 2 November 2021, 

ICC-02/05-01/20-504-AnxA (hereinafter: ‘Annex A to the 3rd Joint Submission on Agreed facts’). 
102 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 98, referring to DAR-OTP-0097-0328 at 0334, para. 

22. 
103 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 96, referring to P-0584, P-0671, P-0718, P-0907, P-

0924, P-0973, P-0987 and P-0994. 
104 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 96, referring to P-0584, P-0718, P-0905, P-0924, P-

0973 and P-0987. 
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police station;105 and the alleged loading of detainees onto vehicles, which drove out of 

Deleig and returned empty, and the repeating of this process multiple times.106 The 

Chamber notes that P-0106’s evidence in this regard is not unique or otherwise 

particularly significant in the body of the expected evidence on this incident. 

56. As regards the parts of the witness statement related to the alleged 

Militia/Janjaweed attack on Bindisi, Mara and Arawala,107 the Chamber notes these are 

based on hearsay and contextual information rather that P-0106 directly having 

witnessed these attacks. The Chamber notes that, [REDACTED] as referred to by the 

Defence,108 the event itself is not directly linked to the charges and only appears to 

provide context to the allegations that there was a search and arrests of Fur men 

displaced to Deleig and Mukjar from the surrounding areas. Accordingly, the evidence 

is not at the core of the Prosecution’s case. The relevance and evidentiary weight of 

these parts of the witness statement will be considered by the Chamber in its assessment 

in the context of the judgment under Article 74 of the Statute.  

57. As regards the acts and conduct of the accused, the Chamber recalls its 

conclusions in previous decisions.109 The Chamber notes the Prosecution’s submission 

that the evidence of P-0106 on the accused’s alleged presence during and supervision 

of the process of loading detainees onto vehicles in Deleig, stated in paragraphs 70 to 

77 of the witness statement —referred to by the Defence—,110 is corroborative of and 

cumulative to other witnesses who will testify entirely viva voce.111 The Chamber notes 

that the evidence of P-0106 on the accused’s alleged involvement in the recruitment, 

training, arming, funding and distribution of other resources to the Militia/Janjaweed 

by the Government of Sudan,112 is corroborative of and cumulative to other witnesses 

                                                 

105 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 96, referring to P-0584, P-0671, P-0718, P-0879, P-

0905, P-0907, P-0924, P-0931, P-0973, P-0987 and P-0994. 
106 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 96, referring to P-0584, P-0879, P-0905, P-0907, P-

0924, P-0973, P-0987 and P-0994. 
107 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 16, referring to DAR-OTP-0116-1005, paras 34-39, 51-

59. 
108 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 16, referring to DAR-OTP-0116-1005, paras 60-67. 
109 See First Rule 68(3) Decision, ICC-02/05-01/20-559-Conf, paras 20-25; Third Rule 68(3) Decision, 

ICC-02/05-01/20-602-Conf, para. 7.  
110 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 16, referring to DAR-OTP-0116-1005, paras 70-77. 
111 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 96, referring to P-0584, P-0879, P-0905, P-0907, P-

0924, P-0973, P-0987 and P-0994. 
112 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 100, referring to P-0011, P-0012, P-0029, P-0131, 

P-0547, P-0643, P-0878, P-0883, P-0885, P-0905, P-0921, P-0992, P-0984, P-0994 and P-1021. 
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who will testify entirely viva voce. Furthermore, paragraphs 31 to 33 of the witness 

statement referred to by the Defence,113 which provides evidence on Ali Kushayb’s 

alleged involvement in the distribution of weapons to Arab tribes, is based on 

hearsay,114 is not unique, and the evidentiary weight of this assertion will be considered 

by the Chamber in its assessment in the context of the judgment under Article 74 of the 

Statute. 

58. The Chamber also notes the Prosecution’s submission that the evidence of P-0106 

is corroborative of and cumulative to other witnesses who will testify entirely viva voce 

on the identity and background of the accused,115 and his alleged leadership position in 

the Militia/Janjaweed.116 Although, in paragraph 24 referred to by the Defence, P-0106 

purportedly claims [REDACTED],117 the witness did not seem to have any direct 

interaction with Ali Kushayb and does not provide any information which might be 

considered unique. Parts of P-0106’s evidence on the identity and background of Ali 

Kushayb cited by the Defence in its Response,118 such as his physical description, his 

retirement from the military, and his post-retirement work as a ‘medicine trader’ in 

Garsila are not unique and corroborate witnesses who will testify entirely viva voce on 

the identity and background of Ali Kushayb.119 

59. As regards the alleged position of Ali Kushayb in the Militia/Janjaweed, parts of 

P-0106’s evidence referred to by the Defence,120 such as his appointment as the head 

of the Militia/Janjaweed and his relationship with Ja’far Abd-al-Hakam, is 

corroborative of and cumulative to other witnesses who will testify entirely viva voce.121 

                                                 

113 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 16, referring to DAR-OTP-0116-1005, paras 31-33. 
114 DAR-OTP-0116-1005, paras 31-33. 
115 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 97, referring to P-0012, P-0117, P-0589, P-0643, P-

0769, P-0874, P-0878, P-0879, P-0883, P-0903, P-0905, P-0907, P-0921, P-0932, P-0973, P-0986, P-

0987, P-0990 and P-0994. 
116 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 97, referring to P-0012, P-0029, P-0129, P-0131, P-

0589, P-0643, P-0718, P-0874, P-0878, P-0883, P-0885, P-0903, P-0905, P-0907, P-0921, P-0987, P-

0994 and P-1021. 
117 DAR-OTP-0116-1005, para. 24. 
118 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 16, referring to DAR-OTP-0116-1005, paras 24-25, 27. 
119 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 97, referring to P-0012, P-0117, P-0589, P-0643, P-

0769, P-0874, P-0878, P-0879, P-0883, P-0903, P-0905, P-0907, P-0921, P-0932, P-0973, P-0986, P-

0987, P-0990 and P-0994. 
120 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 16, referring to DAR-OTP-0116-1005, paras 26-27, 45. 
121 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 97, referring to P-0012, P-0029, P-0129, P-0131, P-

0589, P-0643, P-0718, P-0874, P-0878, P-0883, P-0885, P-0903, P-0905, P-0907, P-0921, P-0987, P-

0994 and P-1021. 
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60. The Chamber is satisfied that the introduction of P-0106’s prior recorded 

testimony will not occasion any prejudice to the accused since Rule 68(3) of the Rules 

allows for cross-examination. The Defence will have adequate opportunity to question 

the witness on issues identified as core to its case, particularly the identity of the 

accused, and in relation to P-0106, the witness’s evidence as regards the alleged 

involvement of Ali Kushayb in the Government of Sudan operation in Deleig. 

P-0119 

61. P-0119, a Fur [REDACTED], provides evidence relating to alleged incidents in 

Deleig and surrounding areas, and on the contextual elements of the crimes, 

particularly: (i) the background of the armed conflict in Darfur; (ii) armed groups 

involved; and (iii) Government of Sudan allegedly equipping and funding the 

Militia/Janjaweed [REDACTED].122 

62. As regards the accused, the P-0119’s evidence refers to his identity and 

background, and his alleged involvement in the executions of civilians in Deleig.123 

63. Together with the witness statement, the Prosecution seeks the submission of 

associated material, namely, a military identification card, [REDACTED] and a copy 

of a letter.124 

64. The Prosecution requests one hour to conduct a supplementary examination 

(instead of the three hours estimated for viva voce examination).125 

65. The Defence objects to the introduction of this prior recorded testimony pursuant 

to Rule 68(3) of the Rules, noting parts of the statement which refer to the identity and 

position of Ali Kushayb;126 his alleged involvement in the arrest and detention of men 

in villages surrounding [REDACTED] and Deleig;127 his alleged involvement in the 

execution of detainees;128 the alleged links between the Government of Sudan and the 

                                                 

122 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 31. 
123 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 31. 
124 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 32 and Annex A. 
125 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, paras 33-34. 
126 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 17, referring to DAR-OTP-0124-0196, para. 108. 
127 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 17, referring to DAR-OTP-0124-0196, para. 52. 
128 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 17, referring to DAR-OTP-0124-0196, paras 109-112, 

118. 
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Militia/Janjaweed;129 as well as P-0119’s familiarity and purported interactions with 

Ali Kushayb.130 The Defence furthers argues that P-0119’s evidence provides 

[REDACTED].131  

66. The Chamber notes the Prosecution’s submission that the evidence of P-0119 is 

corroborative of and cumulative to other witnesses who will testify entirely viva voce 

on the involvement of the accused in the recruitment, training, arming, funding and 

distribution of other resources to the Militia/Janjaweed by the Government of Sudan.132 

67. As regards the identity and position of Ali Kushayb, the Chamber notes the 

Prosecution’s submissions that P-0119’s evidence is corroborative of and cumulative 

to other witnesses who will testify entirely viva voce.133 

68. The Chamber further notes that P-0119’s evidence as regards Ali Kushayb’s acts 

and conduct in Deleig referred to by the Defence is mostly hearsay and of limited 

significance vis-à-vis the body of evidence expected during trial.134 In any event, the 

evidentiary weight of any indirect evidence of the witness will be considered by the 

Chamber in its assessment in the context of the judgment under Article 74 of the Statute. 

69. As regards the purported unique character of P-0119’s evidence on 

[REDACTED],135 the Chamber notes that P-0119’s evidence on this issue 

[REDACTED] ([REDACTED] at the time of the charges).136 

70. As regards P-0119’s alleged direct interaction with Ali Kushayb, although P-0119 

–in paragraph 121 referred to by the Defence– [REDACTED], his evidence as regards 

Ali Kushayb is neither unique nor significant, and is corroborative of and cumulative 

                                                 

129 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 17, referring to DAR-OTP-0124-0196, paras 94-95, 97-

99. 
130 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 17, referring to DAR-OTP-0124-0196, para. 121. 
131 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 17, referring to DAR-OTP-0124-0196, paras 94-95, 97-

99. 
132 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 100, referring to P-0011, P-0012, P-0029, P-0131, 

P-0547, P-0643, P-0878, P-0883, P-0885, P-0905, P-0921, P-0992, P-0984, P-0994 and P-1021. 
133 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 97, referring to P-0012, P-0029, P-0117, P-0129, P-

0131, P-0589, P-0643, P-0718, P-0769, P-0874, P-0878, P-0879, P-0883, P-0885, P-0903, P-0905, P-

0907, P-0921, P-0932, P-0973, P-0986, P-0987, P-0990, P-0994 and P-1021. 
134 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 17. See DAR-OTP-0124-0196, paras 104-121. 
135 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 17, referring to DAR-OTP-0124-0196, paras 94-95, 97-

99. 
136 DAR-OTP-0124-0196, paras 94-95, 97-99. 
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to the evidence of other witnesses who will testify entirely viva voce on the identity and 

background of Ali Kushayb in much greater detail.137 

71. The Chamber is satisfied that the introduction of P-0119’s prior recorded 

testimony will not occasion any prejudice to the accused since Rule 68(3) of the Rules 

allows for cross-examination. The Defence will have ample opportunity to question the 

witness on issues identified as core to its case, particularly the identity of the accused, 

and in relation to P-0119, the witness’s evidence as regards the funding of the 

Militia/Janjaweed and other Government of Sudan forces [REDACTED]. 

P-0585 

72. P-0585, a Fur civilian, provides evidence on alleged incidents in Deleig, 

particularly relating to the charges of murder.  

73. As regards the accused, the witness’s evidence refers to his identity, his alleged 

senior leadership in the Militia/Janjaweed, and his alleged presence, authority and 

actions during the operation and execution of civilians in Deleig.138  

74. Together with the witness statement, the Prosecution seeks the submission of 

associated material, namely, a map and five sketches used during the interview.139 

75. The Prosecution requests one hour to conduct a supplementary examination 

(instead of the three hours estimated for viva voce examination).140 

76. The Defence objects to the introduction of this prior recorded testimony pursuant 

to Rule 68(3) of the Rules, noting parts of the statement which refer to the purported 

identity, description, background and position of Ali Kushayb;141 his role in the 

Militia/Janjaweed;142 hearsay evidence that Ali Kushayb allegedly supervised the 

                                                 

137 DAR-OTP-0124-0196, para. 121; See Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 97, referring 

to P-0012, P-0117, P-0589, P-0643, P-0769, P-0874, P-0878, P-0879, P-0883, P-0903, P-0905, P-0907, 

P-0921, P-0932, P-0973, P-0986, P-0987, P-0990 and P-0994. The Prosecution does not rely on this 

paragraph of P-0119’s statement in the aforesaid footnotes in its Trial Brief (see preceding footnote). 
138 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 35. 
139 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 36 and Annex A. 
140 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, paras 37-38. 
141 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 18, referring to DAR-OTP-0201-0037, paras 26, 46-47, 

51, 114-115, 118-120.  
142 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 18, referring to DAR-OTP-0201-0037, paras 58-61, 74.  
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execution of detainees in Deleig;143 and P-0585’s purported interactions with Ali 

Kushayb before the conflict in Darfur. 144  

77. The Chamber notes the agreed facts relating to the background of the accused,145 

and that these facts are supported by the evidence of P-0585.146 The Chamber notes the 

Prosecution’s submission that the evidence of P-0585 is corroborative of and 

cumulative to that of other witnesses who will testify entirely viva voce on the alleged 

use of derogatory language towards the Fur during the Government of Sudan operation 

in Deleig;147 the alleged detention and mistreatment of Fur civilian men in the open area 

near Deleig police station;148 the alleged sighting of a group of community leaders in a 

convoy with the accused in Deleig;149 the purported identity and background of the 

accused;150 the alleged leadership position of the accused in the Militia/Janjaweed;151 

and the alleged involvement of the accused in the recruitment, training, arming, funding 

and distribution of other resources to the Militia/Janjaweed by the Government of 

Sudan.152 

78. Evidence relating to P-0585’s purported personal interactions with Ali Kushayb 

is corroborative and cumulative to that of other witnesses who will testify entirely viva 

voce on the identity and background of Ali Kushayb,153 and supportive of the facts 

relating to the background of the accused already agreed by the Parties.154 Nonetheless, 

P-0585’s evidence in this regard is sufficiently detailed and unique in relation to the 

                                                 

143 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 18, referring to DAR-OTP-0201-0037, para. 91.  
144 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 18, referring to DAR-OTP-0201-0037, para. 114.  
145 Annex A to the 3rd Joint Submission on Agreed facts, ICC-02/05-01/20-504-AnxA. 
146 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 98, referring to DAR-OTP-0201-0037 at 0065, 

paras 114-115. 
147 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 96, referring to P-0584, P-0718, P-0905, P-0924, P-

0973 and P-0987. 
148 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 96, referring to P-0584, P-0671, P-0718, P-0879, P-

0905, P-0907, P-0924, P-0931, P-0973, P-0987 and P-0994. 
149 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 96, referring to P-0907, P-0973, P-0987 and P-0994. 
150 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 97, referring to P-0012, P-0117, P-0589, P-0643, P-

0769, P-0874, P-0878, P-0879, P-0883, P-0903, P-0905, P-0907, P-0921, P-0932, P-0973, P-0986, P-

0987, P-0990 and P-0994. 
151 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 97, referring to P-0012, P-0029, P-0129, P-0131, P-

0589, P-0643, P-0718, P-0874, P-0878, P-0883, P-0885, P-0903, P-0905, P-0907, P-0921, P-0987, P-

0994 and P-1021. 
152 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 100, referring to P-0011, P-0012, P-0029, P-0131, 

P-0547, P-0643, P-0878, P-0883, P-0885, P-0905, P-0921, P-0992, P-0984, P-0994 and P-1021. 
153 DAR-OTP-0124-0196-R02, para. 121; See Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 97, 

referring to P-0012, P-0117, P-0589, P-0643, P-0769, P-0874, P-0878, P-0879, P-0883, P-0903, P-0905, 

P-0907, P-0921, P-0932, P-0973, P-0986, P-0987, P-0990 and P-0994. 
154 Annex A to the 3rd Joint Submission on Agreed facts, ICC-02/05-01/20-504-AnxA. 
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body of evidence expected during trial.155 For example, in paragraphs 58 to 61 referred 

to by the Defence, P-0585 states that he saw ‘Kushayb’ many times.156 

79. Bearing in mind the indirect nature of some of the evidence provided by P-0585, 

insofar as relevant, the evidentiary weight of any assertion will be considered by the 

Chamber in its assessment in the context of the judgment under Article 74 of the Statute. 

80. Although the factors discussed above are not, per se, an obstacle to authorising 

the introduction of evidence under Rule 68(3) of the Rules, in the instant case, P-0585’s 

evidence emanating from his purported encounters and interactions with Ali Kushayb 

is sufficiently detailed and unique. Accordingly, the Chamber, in this particular 

circumstance, determines that it is preferable that the entirety of P-0585’s evidence is 

heard viva voce. 

P-0592 

81. P-0592, a Fur civilian, provides evidence on alleged incidents in Deleig in relation 

to the charges of murder, persecution and outrages upon personal dignity and the 

contextual elements of the crimes.157 

82. As regards the accused, the witness’s evidence refers to his physical description 

and his alleged leadership in the Militia/Janjaweed.158 

83. Together with the witness statement, the Prosecution seeks the submission of 

associated material, namely, a map and a drawn outline of a compound used during the 

interview.159 

84. The Prosecution requests one hour to conduct a supplementary examination 

(instead of the 4.5 hours estimated for viva voce examination).160 

                                                 

155 See for example DAR-OTP-0201-0037, para. 74, 84-88, 114-120. 
156 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 18, referring to DAR-OTP-0201-0037, paras 58-61. 
157 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 39. 
158 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 39. 
159 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 40 and Annex A. 
160 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, paras 41-42. 
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85. The Defence objects to the introduction of this prior recorded testimony pursuant 

to Rule 68(3) of the Rules, noting parts of the statement which refer the identity, 

description and senior position of Ali Kushayb in the Militia/Janjaweed.161 

86. The Chamber notes the Prosecution’s submission that the evidence of P-0592 is 

corroborative of and cumulative to that of other witnesses who will testify entirely viva 

voce on the alleged search and arrest of Fur men displaced to Deleig from the 

surrounding areas;162 the alleged use of derogatory language towards the Fur during the 

Government of Sudan operation in Deleig;163 the survival of several persons who were 

allegedly taken to execution sites;164 and the alleged detention of a group of community 

leaders in Deleig.165 As regards the accused’s alleged leadership position in the 

Militia/Janjaweed, the Chamber notes the Prosecution’s submission that P-0592’s 

evidence is also corroborative and cumulative.166  

87. The Chamber notes the Defence’s observation that the evidence provided by P-

0592 is mostly general knowledge and hearsay.167 The Chamber further notes, as 

referred to by the Defence, that P-0592 mentions seeing Ali Kushayb once 8 months 

after the attack on Deleig, which is outside the period of the charged crimes and 

therefore has limited significance.168 Moreover, P-0592 states in his statement that he 

did not see Ali Kushayb on the day of the attack in Deleig.169 Thus, P-0592’s evidence 

does not directly bear upon the core of the case for the Prosecution. The evidentiary 

weight of any assertion will be considered by the Chamber in its assessment in the 

context of the judgment under Article 74 of the Statute. 

88. The Chamber is satisfied that the introduction of P-0592’s prior recorded 

testimony will not occasion any prejudice to the accused since Rule 68(3) of the Rules 

                                                 

161 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 19, referring to DAR-OTP-0209-0825, paras 24-27, 

106-108. 
162 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 96, referring to P-0584, P-0671, P-0718, P-0907, P-

0924, P-0973, P-0987 and P-0994. 
163 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 96, referring to P-0584, P-0718, P-0905, P-0924, P-

0973 and P-0987. 
164 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 96, referring to P-0584, P-0907, P-0924 and P-0987. 
165 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 96, referring to P-0973, P-0987 and P-0994. 
166 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 97, referring to P-0012, P-0029, P-0129, P-0131, P-

0589, P-0643, P-0718, P-0874, P-0878, P-0883, P-0885, P-0903, P-0905, P-0907, P-0921, P-0987, P-

0994 and P-1021. 
167 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 19, referring to DAR-OTP-0209-0825, paras 24-27. 
168 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 19, referring to DAR-OTP-0209-0825, paras 107-108. 
169 DAR-OTP-0209-0825, para. 106.  
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allows for cross-examination. The Defence will have adequate opportunity to question 

the witness on issues identified as core to its case, particularly the identity of the 

accused, and any other part of P-0592’s evidence relevant to the Defence case. 

P-0607 

89. P-0607, a Fur civilian, provides evidence on the alleged incidents in Deleig, 

particularly in relation to charges of persecution, torture and cruel treatment; and the 

contextual elements of the crimes.170 

90. As regards the accused, the witness’s evidence refers to his alleged actions near 

Deleig police station during the period of the charged crimes, his alleged senior 

leadership in the Militia/Janjaweed, and his alleged authority during the Government 

of Sudan operation in Deleig.171 

91. Together with the witness statement, the Prosecution seeks the submission of 

associated material, namely, two sketches and a map drawn by P-0607.172 

92. The Prosecution requests one hour to conduct a supplementary examination 

(instead of the three hours estimated for viva voce examination).173 

93. The Defence objects to the introduction of this prior recorded testimony pursuant 

to Rule 68(3), noting parts of the statement which refer the alleged identity and position 

of Ali Kushayb;174 his alleged inspection of detained men at Deleig police station;175 

Ali Kushayb allegedly walking on the backs of detainees;176 the alleged loading of 

groups of detainees into vehicles;177 as well as Ali Kushayb’s alleged role as head of 

the Militia/Janjaweed.178  

94. As regards the alleged incidents in Deleig, the Chamber notes the Prosecution’s 

submission that the evidence of P-0607 is corroborative of and cumulative to that of 

other witnesses who will testify entirely viva voce on the alleged search and arrest of 

                                                 

170 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 43. 
171 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 43. 
172 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 44 and Annex A. 
173 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, paras 45-46. 
174 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 20, referring to DAR-OTP-0203-0164, paras 47-57. 
175 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 20, referring to DAR-OTP-0203-0164, para. 50. 
176 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 20, referring to DAR-OTP-0203-0164, para. 78. 
177 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 20, referring to DAR-OTP-0203-0164, paras 53-55. 
178 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 20, referring to DAR-OTP-0203-0164, para. 60. 
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Fur males displaced to Deleig from the surrounding areas;179 the alleged detention and 

mistreatment of male Fur civilians in the open area near Deleig police station;180 and 

the alleged loading of detainees onto vehicles, which drove out of Deleig and returned 

empty, and the repeating of this process multiple times.181 The Chamber further notes 

that the evidence of P-0607 on the alleged incidents in Deleig is lacking in specificity 

about the events at Deleig police station where [REDACTED] and could therefore not 

fully see what was happening.182 

95. As regards the accused, the Chamber notes the Prosecution’s submission that the 

evidence of P-0607 is corroborative of and cumulative to other witnesses who will 

testify entirely viva voce on the alleged leadership position of the accused in the 

Militia/Janjaweed;183 and the alleged mistreatment of detainees by the accused in the 

open area near Deleig police station.184 The Chamber notes, as submitted by the 

Defence, that P-0607’s knowledge of Ali Kushayb appears to be limited.185 

Furthermore, the Chamber notes that in paragraphs 47 to 57 and 60, referred to by the 

Defence, P-0607 prefaces his evidence by stating that at the time of the encounter he 

did not know Ali Kushayb, he had never seen or heard of Ali Kushayb before, did not 

see Ali Kushayb again after this encounter, he could not give an accurate description of 

Ali Kushayb, and only heard about Ali Kushayb’s alleged leadership position in the 

Militia/Janjaweed from others.186 The evidentiary weight of evidence of the witness 

will be considered by the Chamber in its assessment in the context of the judgment 

under Article 74 of the Statute. 

96. The Chamber is satisfied that the introduction of P-0607’s prior recorded 

testimony will not occasion any prejudice to the accused since Rule 68(3) of the Rules 

                                                 

179 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 96, referring to P-0584, P-0671, P-0718, P-0907, P-

0924, P-0973, P-0987 and P-0994. 
180 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 96, referring to P-0584, P-0671, P-0718, P-0879, P-

0905, P-0907, P-0924, P-0931, P-0973, P-0987 and P-0994. 
181 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 96, referring to P-0584, P-0879, P-0905, P-0907, P-

0924, P-0973, P-0987 and P-0994. 
182 DAR-OTP-0203-0164, paras 48-57. 
183 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 97, referring to P-0012, P-0029, P-0129, P-0131, P-

0589, P-0643, P-0718, P-0874, P-0878, P-0883, P-0885, P-0903, P-0905, P-0907, P-0921, P-0987, P-

0994 and P-1021. 
184 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 96, referring to P-0584, P-0671, P-0879, P-0907, P-

0924, P-0973 and P-0994. 
185 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 20, referring to DAR-OTP-0203-0164, para. 60. 
186 DAR-OTP-0203-0164, paras 47, 60. 
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allows for cross-examination. The Defence will have ample opportunity to question the 

witness on issues identified as core to its case, particularly the identity of the accused, 

and in relation to P-0607, the witness’s evidence as regards the alleged events and 

actions of Ali Kushayb in Deleig. 

P-0617 

97. P-0617, a Fur civilian, provides evidence on the alleged incidents in Deleig, 

particularly in relation to the charges of murder, persecution, and cruel treatment and 

contextual elements of the crimes.187 

98. As regards the accused, the witness’s evidence refers to his identity, his senior 

leadership in the Militia/Janjaweed, and his alleged presence and role during the alleged 

incidents in Deleig.188 

99. Together with the witness statement, the Prosecution seeks the submission of 

associated material, namely, five maps drawn by P-0617.189 

100. The Prosecution requests one hour to conduct a supplementary examination 

(instead of the three hours estimated for viva voce examination).190 

101. The Defence objects to the introduction of this prior recorded testimony pursuant 

to Rule 68(3) of the Rules, noting parts of the statement which refer to the identity and 

position of Ali Kushayb,191 the building of his reputation as a potential militia leader,192 

and his actions and authority during the Government of Sudan operation in Deleig.193  

102. The Chamber notes the Prosecution’s submission that the evidence of P-0617 is 

corroborative of and cumulative to other witnesses who will testify entirely viva voce 

on the alleged detention and mistreatment of male Fur civilians in the open area near 

Deleig police station;194 the alleged mistreatment of detainees by the accused in the 

                                                 

187 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 47. 
188 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 47. 
189 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 48 and Annex A. 
190 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, paras 49-50. 
191 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 21, referring to DAR-OTP-0202-1496, paras 81-83, 96-

98. 
192 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 21, referring to DAR-OTP-0202-1496, para. 96. 
193 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 21, referring to DAR-OTP-0202-1496, paras 83, 79-85. 
194 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 96, referring to P-0584, P-0671, P-0718, P-0879, P-

0905, P-0907, P-0924, P-0931, P-0973, P-0987 and P-0994. 
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open area near Deleig police station;195 the alleged loading of detainees onto vehicles, 

which drove out of Deleig and returned empty, and the repeating of this process 

multiple times;196 the alleged killing of a group of detainees in an area outside of Deleig 

near Fere;197 and the alleged senior leadership position of the accused in the 

Militia/Janjaweed.198 

103. The Chamber notes that parts of the witness statement referred to by the Defence 

are not unique, as regards the alleged identity and position of Ali Kushayb,199 and his 

alleged actions and authority during the Government of Sudan operation in Deleig.200 

The Chamber notes that the evidence in this regard is mostly hearsay as it emanates 

from what P-0617 learnt from others allegedly detained and thus limited to his position 

as a civilian living in Deleig at the time of the alleged incident.201 

104. The Chamber is satisfied that the introduction of P-0617’s prior recorded 

testimony will not occasion any prejudice to the accused since Rule 68(3) of the Rules 

allows for cross-examination. The Defence will have sufficient opportunity to question 

the witness on issues identified as core to its case, particularly the identity of the 

accused, and in relation to P-0617, the witness’s evidence as regards the building of Ali 

Kushayb’s reputation as a potential militia leader, and Ali Kushayb’s actions and 

authority during the Government of Sudan operation in Deleig. 

P-0651 

105. P-0651, a Fur civilian, provides evidence on the alleged Militia/Janjaweed 

attacks on areas surrounding Deleig as well as the alleged incidents in Deleig, 

particularly in relation to the charges of murder and persecution.202 

                                                 

195 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 96, referring to P-0584, P-0671, P-0879, P-0907, P-

0924, P-0973 and P-0994. 
196 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 96, referring to P-0584, P-0879, P-0905, P-0907, P-

0924, P-0973, P-0987 and P-0994. 
197 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 97, referring to P-0643, P-0671, P-0879, P-0883, P-

0907, P-0973, P-0987, P-0994 and P-1018. 
198 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 97, referring to P-0012, P-0029, P-0129, P-0131, P-

0589, P-0643, P-0718, P-0874, P-0878, P-0883, P-0885, P-0903, P-0905, P-0907, P-0921, P-0987, P-

0994 and P-1021. 
199 DAR-OTP-0202-1496, paras 79-85, 96-98. 
200 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 21, referring to DAR-OTP-0202-1496, paras 79-85. 
201 See DAR-OTP-0202-1496, para. 83.   
202 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 51. 
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106. As regards the accused, the witness’s evidence indirectly refers to his presence in 

Deleig and surrounding areas.203 

107. Together with the witness statement, the Prosecution seeks the submission of 

associated material, namely, three sketches drawn by P-0651.204 

108. The Prosecution requests one hour to conduct a supplementary examination 

(instead of the three hours estimated for viva voce examination).205 

109. The Defence objects to the introduction of this prior recorded testimony pursuant 

to Rule 68(3), noting parts of the statement which refer to the identity and position of 

Ali Kushayb;206 Ali Kushayb’s involvement in the attacks around Mukjar and 

Bindisi,207 and on Fere,208 Taringa209 and Burbur;210 the alleged arrest, detention and 

mistreatment of men in Deleig;211 and Ali Kushayb’s alleged involvement in the 

loading of men into vehicles at Deleig police station bound for execution sites.212 

110. The Chamber notes the Prosecution’s submission that the evidence of P-0651 is 

corroborative of and cumulative to other witnesses who will testify entirely viva voce 

on the search and arrest of Fur males displaced to Deleig from the surrounding areas;213 

the detention and mistreatment of male Fur civilians in the open area near Deleig police 

station;214 the loading of detainees onto vehicles, which drove out of Deleig and 

returned empty, and the repeating of this process multiple times;215 the killing of a group 

of detainees in an area outside of Deleig near Fere;216 and the attack on Taringa.217 

                                                 

203 See DAR-OTP-0205-0015 at paras 20, 22, 25-27, 29, 32, 45, 48, 53, 62-66, 70-73. 
204 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 52 and Annex A. 
205 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, paras 53-54. 
206 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, referring to DAR-OTP-0205-0015, paras 20-22, 25-29, 47-

48. 
207 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 22, referring to DAR-OTP-0205-0015, para. 20. 
208 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 22, referring to DAR-OTP-0205-0015, paras 21-22. 
209 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 22, referring to DAR-OTP-0205-0015, paras 28-30. 
210 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 22, referring to DAR-OTP-0205-0015, paras 31-33. 
211 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 22, referring to DAR-OTP-0205-0015, paras 43, 47-53. 
212 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 22, referring to DAR-OTP-0205-0015, paras 50-53. 
213 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 96, referring to P-0584, P-0671, P-0718, P-0907, P-

0924, P-0973, P-0987 and P-0994. 
214 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 96, referring to P-0584, P-0671, P-0718, P-0879, P-

0905, P-0907, P-0924, P-0931, P-0973, P-0987 and P-0994. 
215 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 96, referring to P-0584, P-0879, P-0905, P-0907, P-

0924, P-0973, P-0987 and P-0994. 
216 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 97, referring to P-0643, P-0671, P-0879, P-0883, P-

0907, P-0973, P-0987, P-0994 and P-1018. 
217 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 101, referring to P-0718. 
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111. The Chamber also notes that  the witness does not provide direct evidence on Ali 

Kushayb’s alleged involvement in the attacks around Mukjar and Bindisi,218 nor his 

presence during the alleged incidents in Deleig.219 In fact, the Chamber notes that P-

0651 provides no direct evidence on the accused’s alleged presence or actions relating 

to the charges. His evidence in this regard is mostly hearsay and limited to his position 

as a civilian and a teenager at the time of the alleged events.220 Bearing in mind the 

indirect nature of the evidence provided by P-0651, insofar as relevant, the evidentiary 

weight of any assertion will be considered by the Chamber in its assessment in the 

context of the judgment under Article 74 of the Statute. 

112. The Chamber is satisfied that the introduction of P-0651’s prior recorded 

testimony will not occasion any prejudice to the accused since Rule 68(3) of the Rules 

allows for cross-examination. The Defence will have ample opportunity to question the 

witness on issues identified as core to its case, particularly the identity of the accused, 

and in relation to P-0651, the witness’s evidence as regards Ali Kushayb’s involvement 

in the attacks around Mukjar and Bindisi, and the presence of Ali Kushayb during the 

alleged incidents in Deleig. 

P-0697 

113. P-0697, a Fur civilian, provides evidence on the identity and background of the 

accused; the contextual elements of the crimes; the alleged Government of Sudan 

operation in Deleig, including by arming the Militia/Janjaweed, and particularly 

relating to the charges of murder and persecution.221 

114. As regards the accused, the witness’s evidence refers to his identity, physical 

description and ownership of a pharmacy in Garsila; as well as his alleged presence 

during the search and arrest of men in Deleig in March 2004.222 

115. Together with the witness statement, the Prosecution seeks the submission of a 

chart used during the interview.223 

                                                 

218 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 22, referring to DAR-OTP-0205-0015, para. 20. 
219 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 22, referring to DAR-OTP-0205-0015, paras 43, 47-53. 
220 DAR-OTP-0205-0015, para. 41.  
221 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 55. 
222 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 55. 
223 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 56 and Annex A. 
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116. The Prosecution requests one hour to conduct a supplementary examination 

(instead of the three hours estimated for viva voce examination).224 

117. The Defence objects to the introduction of this prior recorded testimony pursuant 

to Rule 68(3) of the Rules, noting parts of the statement which refer to the identity, 

physical description, background, alleged position and individual criminal 

responsibility of Ali Kushayb.225 [REDACTED],226 and [REDACTED].227 

118. The Chamber notes the Prosecution’s submission that the evidence of P-0697 is 

corroborative of and cumulative to that of other witnesses who will testify entirely viva 

voce on the search and arrest of Fur men displaced to Deleig from the surrounding 

areas;228 as well as  the attack on Taringa.229 The Chamber also notes that the evidence 

of P-0697 is corroborative of and cumulative to other witnesses who will testify entirely 

viva voce on the identity and background of Ali Kushayb.230  

119. As regards [REDACTED].231 Furthermore, as regards [REDACTED],232 

[REDACTED].233 

120. The Chamber is satisfied that the introduction of P-0697’s prior recorded 

testimony will not occasion any prejudice to the accused since Rule 68(3) of the Rules 

allows for cross-examination. The Defence will have adequate opportunity to question 

the witness on issues identified as core to its case, particularly the identity of the 

accused, and in relation to P-0697, the witness’s evidence as regards his [REDACTED]. 

                                                 

224 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, paras 57-58. 
225 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 23. 
226 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 23, referring to DAR-OTP-0209-0155, para. 65. 
227 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 23, referring to DAR-OTP-0209-0155, para. 19. 
228 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 96, referring to P-0584, P-0671, P-0718, P-0907, P-

0924, P-0973, P-0987 and P-0994. 
229 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 101, referring to P-0718. 
230 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 97, referring to P-0012, P-0117, P-0589, P-0643, P-

0769, P-0874, P-0878, P-0879, P-0883, P-0903, P-0905, P-0907, P-0921, P-0932, P-0973, P-0986, P-

0987, P-0990 and P-0994. 
231 DAR-OTP-0209-0155, para. 65. 
232 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 23, referring to DAR-OTP-0209-0155, para. 19. 
233 DAR-OTP-0209-0155, para. 19. 
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P-0712 

121. P-0712, a Fur civilian, provides evidence on the alleged incidents in Deleig and 

surrounding areas, particularly relating to the charges of murder and persecution.234 

122. As regards the accused, the witness’s evidence refers to his identity and his 

alleged leadership position in the Militia/Janjaweed.235 

123. Together with the witness statement, the Prosecution seeks the submission of 

associated material, namely a chart used during the interview.236 

124. The Prosecution requests one hour to conduct a supplementary examination 

(instead of the three hours estimated for viva voce examination).237 

125. The Chamber notes the Defence’s agreement to introduce this prior recorded 

testimony pursuant to Rule 68(3) of the Rules.238 It also notes the Prosecution’s 

submissions as to the corroborative and cumulative evidence to be provided by other 

witnesses who will testify entirely viva voce.239 

126. The Chamber is satisfied that the introduction of P-0712’s prior recorded 

testimony will not occasion any prejudice to the accused since Rule 68(3) of the Rules 

allows for cross-examination. 

P-0725 

127. P-0725, a Fur civilian, provides evidence on the alleged incidents in Deleig and 

surrounding areas, particularly relating to the charges of murder and persecution.240 

128. As regards the accused, the witness’s evidence refers to his senior leadership in 

the Militia/Janjaweed.241 

                                                 

234 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 59. 
235 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 59. 
236 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 60 and Annex A. 
237 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, paras 61-62. 
238 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 2. The Defence notes that this is subject to its general 

objections raised above for all witness statements.  
239 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, paras 96-97, 101. 
240 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 63. 
241 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 63. 
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129. Together with the witness statement, the Prosecution seeks the submission of 

associated material, namely, a headdress board, a witness colour chart and two 

sketches.242 

130. The Prosecution requests one hour to conduct a supplementary examination 

(instead of the three hours estimated for viva voce examination).243 

131. The Chamber notes the Defence’s agreement to introduce this prior recorded 

testimony pursuant to Rule 68(3) of the Rules.244 It also notes the Prosecution’s 

submissions as to the corroborative and cumulative evidence to be provided by other 

witnesses who will testify entirely viva voce.245 

132. The Chamber is satisfied that the introduction of P-0725’s prior recorded 

testimony will not occasion any prejudice to the accused. 

P-0726 

133. P-0726, a Fur civilian, provides evidence on the alleged incidents in Deleig and 

surrounding areas, particularly relating to the charges of murder and persecution.246 

134. As regards the accused, the witness’s evidence refers to his physical appearance, 

the vehicle he used, his alleged presence and authority in Deleig during the period of 

the charged crimes.247 

135. Together with the witness statement, the Prosecution seeks the submission of 

associated material, namely, two sketches drawn by P-0726 and a headdress board.248 

136. The Prosecution requests one hour to conduct a supplementary examination 

(instead of the three hours estimated for viva voce examination).249 

137. The Defence objects to the introduction of this prior recorded testimony pursuant 

to Rule 68(3) of the Rules, noting parts of the statement which refer to the accused.250 

                                                 

242 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 64 and Annex A. 
243 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, paras 65-66. 
244 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 2. The Defence’s agreement is subject to its general 

objections to all witness statements. 
245 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, paras 96-97. 
246 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 67. 
247 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 67. 
248 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 68 and Annex A. 
249 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, paras 69-70. 
250 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 24, referring to DAR-OTP-0210-0346, paras 71, 78. 

ICC-02/05-01/20-630-Red 16-03-2022 32/50 EC T 



No: ICC-02/05-01/20  33/50  16 March 2022 

The Defence notes that the witness’s knowledge about the identity and position of 

authority of Ali Kushayb [REDACTED] and ‘[REDACTED] during encounters with 

that man’.251 The Defence submits that the information about Ali Kushayb’s alleged 

presence at Deleig police station [REDACTED].252 The Defence also observes that the 

witness’s evidence on the physical appearance of Ali Kushayb is based 

[REDACTED].253 

138. As regards the alleged incidents in Deleig, the Chamber notes the Prosecution’s 

submission that the evidence of P-0726 is corroborative of and cumulative to that of 

other witnesses who will testify entirely viva voce on the search and arrest of Fur men 

displaced to Deleig from the surrounding areas;254 the survival of several persons who 

were taken to execution sites;255 the killing of a group of detainees in an area outside of 

Deleig near Fere;256 and the attacks on Forgo.257 

139. As regards the accused, the Chamber notes the Prosecution’s submission that the 

evidence of P-0726 is corroborative of and cumulative to that of other witnesses who 

will testify entirely viva voce on the accused’s identity and physical appearance,258 his 

alleged position of authority,259 and individual criminal responsibility.260 The Chamber 

notes in particular that in paragraph 71 of the statement referred to by the Defence,261 

P-0726 recognises that his knowledge about Ali Kushayb’s alleged authority in the 

Militia/Janjaweed and during the alleged incidents in Deleig is based on what others 

told him.262 The Chamber further notes that in paragraphs 76 to 79 of the witness 

                                                 

251 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 24, referring to DAR-OTP-0210-0346, paras 71, 78. 
252 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 24, referring to DAR-OTP-0210-0346, para. 71. 
253 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 24, referring to DAR-OTP-0210-0346, paras 76-79. 
254 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 96, referring to P-0584, P-0671, P-0718, P-0907, P-

0924, P-0973, P-0987 and P-0994. 
255 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 96, referring to P-0584, P-0907, P-0924 and P-0987. 
256 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 97, referring to P-0643, P-0671, P-0879, P-0883, P-

0907, P-0973, P-0987, P-0994 and P-1018. 
257 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 101, referring to P-0907. 
258 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 97, referring to P-0012, P-0117, P-0589, P-0643, P-

0769, P-0874, P-0878, P-0879, P-0883, P-0903, P-0905, P-0907, P-0921, P-0932, P-0973, P-0986, P-

0987, P-0990 and P-0994. 
259 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 97, referring to P-0012, P-0029, P-0129, P-0131, P-

0589, P-0643, P-0718, P-0874, P-0878, P-0883, P-0885, P-0903, P-0905, P-0907, P-0921, P-0987, P-

0994 and P-1021. 
260 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 96, referring to P-0584, P-0879, P-0905, P-0907, P-

0924, P-0973, P-0987 and P-0994. 
261 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 24, referring to DAR-OTP-0210-0346, para. 71. 
262 DAR-OTP-0210-0346, para. 71. 
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statement referred to by the Defence,263 P-0726 recalls seeing Ali Kushayb in and 

around Deleig on multiple occasions but acknowledges that he cannot give a specific 

description of Ali Kushayb.264 Bearing in mind the indirect nature of some of the 

evidence provided by P-0726, insofar as relevant, the evidentiary weight of any 

assertion will be considered by the Chamber in its assessment in the context of the 

judgment under Article 74 of the Statute. 

140. The Chamber is satisfied that the introduction of P-0726’s prior recorded 

testimony will not occasion any prejudice to the accused since Rule 68(3) of the Rules 

allows for cross-examination. The Defence will still have sufficient opportunity to 

question the witness on issues identified as core to its case, particularly the identity and 

alleged individual criminal responsibility of the accused. 

P-0736 

141. P-0736, a Fur civilian, provides evidence on the alleged incidents in Deleig and 

surrounding areas, particularly relating to the charges of murder and persecution.265 

142. As regards the accused, the witness’s evidence refers to the physical description 

of the accused, his ownership of a pharmacy in Garsila and his senior leadership and 

role in the Militia/Janjaweed.266 

143.  Together with the witness statement, the Prosecution seeks the submission of 

associated material, namely, two maps drawn by P-0736, a witness colour chart and a 

headdress board.267 

144. The Prosecution requests one hour to conduct a supplementary examination 

(instead of the three hours estimated for viva voce examination).268 

145. The Defence objects to the introduction of this prior recorded testimony pursuant 

to Rule 68(3) of the Rules, noting parts of the statement which refer to identity, 

background, position of authority and individual criminal responsibility of Ali 

                                                 

263 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 24, referring to DAR-OTP-0210-0346, para. 71. 
264 DAR-OTP-0210-0346, paras 76-79. 
265 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 71. 
266 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 71. 
267 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 72 and Annex A. 
268 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, paras 73-74. 
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Kushayb.269 The Defence notes the witness’s testimony regarding Ali Kushayb’s 

ownership of a veterinary pharmacy in Garsila,270 [REDACTED],271 [REDACTED],272 

on the alleged leadership position and role of Ali Kushayb in the Militia/Janjaweed,273 

and [REDACTED].274 

146. As regards the alleged incidents in Deleig, the Chamber notes the Prosecution’s 

submission that the evidence of P-0736 is corroborative of and cumulative to that of 

other witnesses who will testify entirely viva voce on the detention and mistreatment of 

Fur civilian men in the open area near Deleig police station;275 and the loading of 

detainees onto vehicles, which drove out of Deleig and returned empty, and the 

repeating of this process multiple times.276 

147. As regards the accused, the Chamber notes that the evidence of P-0736 is 

corroborative of and cumulative to that of other witnesses who will testify entirely viva 

voce on the identity and physical appearance,277 position of authority,278 and individual 

criminal responsibility of Ali Kushayb.279 The Chamber further notes that P-0736 

acknowledges that his evidence on the alleged position of Ali Kushayb in the 

Militia/Janjaweed is based on what he heard from others.280 P-0736 acknowledges that 

his encounters with Ali Kushayb were brief and the evidence emanating therefrom, 

such as Ali Kushayb’s ownership of a veterinary pharmacy in Garsila and Ali Kushayb 

using a government vehicle, is neither unique nor significant, as the witness never 

                                                 

269 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 25. 
270 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 25. 
271 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 25, referring to DAR-OTP-0210-0248, para. 28. 
272 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 25, referring to DAR-OTP-0210-0248, paras 27, 29-30, 

45. 
273 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 25, referring to DAR-OTP-0210-0248, paras 19, 29-30, 

45. 
274 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 25, referring to DAR-OTP-0210-0248, paras 57-58. 
275 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 96, referring to P-0584, P-0671, P-0718, P-0879, P-

0905, P-0907, P-0924, P-0931, P-0973, P-0987 and P-0994. 
276 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 96, referring to P-0584, P-0879, P-0905, P-0907, P-

0924, P-0973, P-0987 and P-0994. 
277 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 97, referring to P-0012, P-0117, P-0589, P-0643, P-

0769, P-0874, P-0878, P-0879, P-0883, P-0903, P-0905, P-0907, P-0921, P-0932, P-0973, P-0986, P-

0987, P-0990 and P-0994. 
278 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 97, referring to P-0012, P-0029, P-0129, P-0131, P-

0589, P-0643, P-0718, P-0874, P-0878, P-0883, P-0885, P-0903, P-0905, P-0907, P-0921, P-0987, P-

0994 and P-1021. 
279 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 96, referring to P-0584, P-0879, P-0905, P-0907, P-

0924, P-0973, P-0987 and P-0994. 
280 DAR-OTP-0210-0248, para. 27. 
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interacted directly with him.281 P-0736’s evidence on Ali Kushayb’s alleged role in the 

distribution of salary to the Militia/Janjaweed, is corroborative of and cumulative to 

that of other witnesses who will testify entirely viva voce on the involvement of the 

accused in the recruitment, training, arming, funding and distribution of other resources 

to the Militia/Janjaweed by the Government of Sudan.282 Furthermore, P-0736’s 

evidence on Ali Kushayb allegedly escorting an individual to Deleig police station,283 

although specific to this witness, lacks context and is not particularly significant in the 

expected body of evidence on the accused’s alleged role and authority during the 

Government of Sudan operation in Deleig.284 In fact, P-0736 admits he could not see 

the premises from where he was sitting but based his account on ‘common knowledge 

amongst all villagers’.285  

148. Furthermore, bearing in mind the indirect nature of some of the evidence provided 

by P-0736, insofar as relevant, the evidentiary weight of any assertion will be 

considered by the Chamber in its assessment in the context of the judgment under 

Article 74 of the Statute. 

149. The Chamber is satisfied that the introduction of P-0736’s prior recorded 

testimony will not occasion any prejudice to the accused since Rule 68(3) of the Rules 

allows for cross-examination. The Defence will have ample opportunity to question the 

witness on issues identified as core to its case, particularly the identity of the accused, 

and in relation to P-0736, the witness’s evidence and his basis of knowledge as regards 

Ali Kushayb’s alleged leadership position and role in the Militia/Janjaweed as well as 

his alleged encounters with Ali Kushayb.  

                                                 

281 DAR-OTP-0210-0248, paras 27-28. 
282 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 100, referring to P-0011, P-0012, P-0029, P-0131, 

P-0547, P-0643, P-0878, P-0883, P-0885, P-0905, P-0921, P-0992, P-0984, P-0994 and P-1021. 
283 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 25, referring to DAR-OTP-0210-0248, paras 57-58. 
284 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 96, referring to P-0584, P-0879, P-0905, P-0907, P-

0924, P-0973, P-0987 and P-0994. 
285 DAR-OTP-0210-0248, para. 57.  
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P-0850 

150. P-0850, a Fur civilian, provides evidence on the alleged incidents in Deleig and 

surrounding areas, particularly relating to the charges of murder, persecution and 

outrages upon personal dignity.286 

151. As regards the accused, the witness’s evidence refers to his identity, physical 

description and that he sold medicine for animals.287 

152. Together with the witness statement, the Prosecution seeks the submission of 

associated material, namely a headdress board.288 

153. The Prosecution requests one hour to conduct a supplementary examination 

(instead of the three hours estimated for viva voce examination).289 

154. The Defence objects to the introduction of this prior recorded testimony pursuant 

to Rule 68(3) of the Rules, noting parts of the statement which refer to Ali Kushayb and 

his role in the alleged incidents in Deleig.290 The Defence observes that witness’s 

testimony is unclear as to how he became familiar with the name Ali Kushayb.291 The 

Defence notes parts of P-0850’s evidence where he [REDACTED];292 

[REDACTED];293 [REDACTED].294 

155. As regards the identity and background of the accused, the Chamber notes the 

agreed facts relating to the background of the accused,295 and that these facts are 

supported by P-0850.296 The Chamber further notes that P-0850’s evidence on the 

identity and background of Ali Kushayb as referred to by the Defence,297 is not unique 

nor detailed, and is corroborative of and cumulative to other witnesses who will testify 

                                                 

286 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 75. 
287 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 75. 
288 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 76 and Annex A. 
289 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, paras 77-78. 
290 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 26. 
291 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 26, referring to DAR-OTP-0216-0002, paras 18-20, 77. 
292 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 26, referring to DAR-OTP-0216-0002, paras 18-20. 
293 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 26, referring to DAR-OTP-0216-0002, paras 75-81. 
294 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 26, referring to DAR-OTP-0216-0002, paras 79-81. 
295 Annex A to the Third Joint Prosecution and Defence Submission on Agreed facts, ICC-02/05-01/20-

504-AnxA. 
296 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 98. 
297 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 26, referring to DAR-OTP-0216-0002, paras 18-20, 77. 
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entirely viva voce on the identity, physical appearance and background of the 

accused.298 P-0850, in fact, accepts he never had a conversation with Ali Kushayb.299 

156. As regards the alleged incidents in Deleig, the Chamber notes the Prosecution’s 

submission that the evidence of P-0850 is corroborative of and cumulative to that of 

other witnesses who will testify entirely viva voce on the search and arrest of Fur men 

displaced to Deleig from the surrounding areas;300 the use of derogatory language 

towards the Fur during the Government of Sudan operation in Deleig;301 the survival of 

several persons who were taken to execution sites;302 and the killing of a group of 

detainees in an area outside of Deleig near Fere.303 

157. As regards the accused, the Chamber notes that the evidence of P-0850 is 

corroborative of and cumulative to that of other witnesses who will testify entirely viva 

voce on the individual criminal responsibility of Ali Kushayb.304 P-0850’s evidence on 

[REDACTED], is not unique nor significant, that of a bystander, and are corroborative 

of and cumulative to that of other witnesses who will testify entirely viva voce on the 

presence of Ali Kushayb in Deleig during the period of the charged crimes.305 In fact, 

P-0850 accepts that much of the information related to the context of what he saw was 

based [REDACTED], as she was with him at the time.306 

158. The Chamber notes that in paragraph 85 of P-0850’s statement referred to by the 

Defence, he provided clarifications about a prior phone call conversation that he had 

with investigators, recorded in a screening note.307 The Chamber notes that 

clarifications made by P-0850 relate to minor parts of his evidence on the alleged attack 

                                                 

298 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 97, referring to P-0012, P-0117, P-0589, P-0643, P-

0769, P-0874, P-0878, P-0879, P-0883, P-0903, P-0905, P-0907, P-0921, P-0932, P-0973, P-0986, P-

0987, P-0990 and P-0994. 
299 DAR-OTP-0216-0002, para. 20.  
300 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 96, referring to P-0584, P-0671, P-0718, P-0907, P-

0924, P-0973, P-0987 and P-0994. 
301 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 96, referring to P-0584, P-0718, P-0905, P-0924, P-

0973 and P-0987. 
302 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 96, referring to P-0584, P-0907, P-0924 and P-0987. 
303 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 97, referring to P-0643, P-0671, P-0879, P-0883, P-

0907, P-0973, P-0987, P-0994 and P-1018. 
304 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 96, referring to P-0584, P-0879, P-0905, P-0907, P-

0924, P-0973, P-0987 and P-0994. 
305 DAR-OTP-0216-0002, paras 75-81. See also Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 96, 

referring to P-0584, P-0879, P-0905, P-0907, P-0924, P-0973, P-0987 and P-0994. 
306 DAR-OTP-0216-0002, para. 78.  
307 DAR-OTP-0214-0528, p. 3. 
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on [REDACTED].308 His evidence is also not unique or otherwise particularly 

significant in the body of the expected evidence on the contextual elements of the 

crimes.309 

159. The Chamber is satisfied that the introduction of P-0850’s prior recorded 

testimony will not occasion any prejudice to the accused since Rule 68(3) of the Rules 

allows for cross-examination. The Defence will have adequate opportunity to question 

the witness on issues identified as core to its case, particularly the identity of the 

accused, and in relation to P-0850, the witness’s evidence as regards his two sightings 

of Ali Kushayb and connected events, and the information contained in the aforesaid 

screening note. 

P-0894 

160. P-0894, a Fur civilian, provides evidence relating to the Government of Sudan 

Forces’ alleged attack on Tanako.310 

161. As regards the accused, the witness’s evidence refers to his physical description, 

his ownership of a pharmacy in Garsila, and his alleged role during the attack on 

Tanako.311 

162. Together with the witness statement, the Prosecution seeks the submission of 

associated material, namely [REDACTED].312 

163. The Prosecution requests one hour to conduct a supplementary examination 

(instead of the three hours estimated for viva voce examination).313 

164. The Defence objects to the introduction of this prior recorded testimony pursuant 

to Rule 68(3) of the Rules, noting parts of the statement which refer to the identity, 

physical description, background and alleged position of authority of Ali Kushayb. The 

Defence notes parts of P-0894’s prior recorded testimony where P-0894 

                                                 

308 DAR-OTP-0216-0002, para. 85. 
309 See for example DAR-OTP-0088-0306; DAR-OTP-0088-0129; DAR-OTP-0088-0150; DAR-OTP-

0215- 7164; DAR-OTP-0200-1540; DAR-OTP-0206-0105; DAR-OTP-0209-2004. 
310 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 79. 
311 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 79. 
312 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 80 and Annex A. 
313 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, paras 81-82. 
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[REDACTED];314 [REDACTED];315 and heard that Ali Kushayb was providing 

weapons to the Arab tribes.316 The Defence also observes [REDACTED].317 The 

Defence further claims that P-0894’s evidence on Ali Kushayb leading an attack by the 

Militia/Janjaweed on Tanako falls outside the scope of the charges.318 

165. The Chamber notes the agreed facts relating to the background of the accused,319 

and that these facts are supported by P-0894.320 The Chamber also notes the 

Prosecution’s submission that the evidence of P-0894 is corroborative of and 

cumulative to that of other witnesses who will testify entirely viva voce on the identity 

and background of the accused.321 The Chamber further notes that the evidence of P-

0894 is corroborative of and cumulative to that of other witnesses who will testify 

entirely viva voce on the alleged authority of Ali Kushayb in the Militia/Janjaweed.322 

166. The Chamber notes that P-0894 allegedly had close interactions with Ali Kushayb 

on multiple occasions between 2000 and 2002 in Garsila,323 which forms the basis of 

his evidence on the identity and description of Ali Kushayb. P-0894 also provides 

hearsay evidence on Ali Kushayb’s alleged role in the provision of weapons to Arab 

tribes, although this information is corroborative of the testimonies of witnesses who 

will testify entirely viva voce.324  

                                                 

314 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 27, referring to DAR-OTP-0217-0103, paras 56-57, 88-

93. 
315 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 27, referring to DAR-OTP-0217-0103, para. 90. 
316 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 27, referring to DAR-OTP-0217-0103, para. 21. 
317 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 27, referring to DAR-OTP-0215-4620. 
318 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 27, referring to DAR-OTP-0217-0103, paras 57-87. 
319 Annex A to the Third Joint Prosecution and Defence Submission on Agreed facts, ICC-02/05-01/20-

504-AnxA. 
320 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 98. 
321 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 97, referring to P-0012, P-0117, P-0589, P-0643, P-

0769, P-0874, P-0878, P-0879, P-0883, P-0903, P-0905, P-0907, P-0921, P-0932, P-0973, P-0986, P-

0987, P-0990 and P-0994. 
322 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 97, referring to P-0012, P-0029, P-0129, P-0131, P-

0589, P-0643, P-0718, P-0874, P-0878, P-0883, P-0885, P-0903, P-0905, P-0907, P-0921, P-0987, P-

0994 and P-1021. 
323 See DAR-OTP-0217-0103, paras 88-93. 
324 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 100, referring to P-0011, P-0012, P-0029, P-0131, 

P-0547, P-0643, P-0878, P-0883, P-0885, P-0905, P-0921, P-0992, P-0984, P-0994 and P-1021. 
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167. Although [REDACTED],325 which appears to refer to the same individual. In fact, 

the Chamber notes that the name ‘Ali Kushayb’ has been used in the witness statement 

in connection to the same alleged events described in the screening note.326 

168. As regards P-0894’s evidence on the alleged attack on Tanako, although outside 

the scope of the charges, the Chamber notes that this evidence may still be relevant for 

the purpose of indirectly establishing the accused’s individual criminal responsibility 

for the alleged incidents in Deleig. Furthermore, the Chamber notes that P-0894’s 

evidence, as regards accused’s individual criminal responsibility, corroborates the 

testimony of witnesses who will testify entirely viva voce and provide direct evidence 

on the accused’s individual criminal responsibility for the alleged incidents in Deleig.327 

The Chamber notes P-0894’s evidence as regard’s Ali Kushayb allegedly beating 

women and raping a woman in Tanako, although not within the scope of the charges, 

is unique and, as stated above, may be of relevance to establish the accused’s individual 

criminal responsibility.328 The Chamber will assess the relevance of this aspect of P-

0894’s testimony in the context of the judgment under Article 74 of the Statute. 

169. Although the factors discussed above are not, per se, an obstacle to authorising 

the introduction of evidence under Rule 68(3) of the Rules, in the instant case, P-0894’s 

evidence on Ali Kushayb’s alleged actions during and alleged involvement in the attack 

on Tanako,329 and purported description of Ali Kushayb based their multiple 

encounters,330 are direct, sufficiently detailed and unique. Accordingly, the Chamber, 

in this particular circumstance, determines that it is preferable that the entirety of P-

0894’s evidence is heard viva voce. 

P-0895 

170. P-0895, a Fur civilian, provides evidence on the contextual elements of the 

crimes.331 

                                                 

325 See DAR-OTP-0215-4620. 
326 See DAR-OTP-0217-0103. 
327 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 97, referring to P-0012, P-0029, P-0129, P-0131, P-

0589, P-0643, P-0718, P-0874, P-0878, P-0883, P-0885, P-0903, P-0905, P-0907, P-0921, P-0987, P-

0994 and P-1021. 
328 DAR-OTP-0217-0103, paras 66-78.  
329 See DAR-OTP-0217-0103, paras 56-81. 
330 See DAR-OTP-0217-0103, paras 88-93. 
331 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 83. 
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171. As regards the accused, the witness’s evidence refers to his background, including 

his place of residence and pharmacy in Garsila; his senior leadership in the 

Militia/Janjaweed and his role in the Central Reserve Forces; and his actions in Garsila 

and Deleig during the period of the charges crimes.332 

172. Together with the witness statement, the Prosecution seeks the submission of 

associated material, namely one document related to the witness’s remote interview.333 

173. The Prosecution requests one hour to conduct a supplementary examination 

(instead of the 4.5 hours estimated for viva voce examination).334 

174. The Defence objects to the introduction of this prior recorded testimony pursuant 

to Rule 68(3) of the Rules, noting parts of the statement which refer to the identity, 

family, background, and position of authority of Ali Kushayb.335 The Defence submits 

that the evidence of P-0895 is unique since the witness [REDACTED];336 and provides 

information on Ali Kushayb’s identity, physical description, tribal affiliation, and 

family;337 Ali Kushayb’s military service, background and opening of a veterinary 

pharmacy post-retirement;338 hearsay information about Ali Kushayb being shot in the 

arm during an incident in Nyala market;339 Ali Kushayb’s position of authority in the 

Militia/Janjaweed and relationship with the Government of Sudan;340 hearsay 

information about Ali Kushayb beating and killing a Fur man in Deleig in 2004;341 and 

hearsay information about Ali Kushayb’s involvement in the transportation of men 

detained in Garsila, their alleged killing in Deleig in 2004, and the murder of 83 persons 

in Mukjar.342 

                                                 

332 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 83. 
333 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 84 and Annex A. 
334 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, paras 85-86. 
335 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 28. 
336 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 28, referring to DAR-OTP-0215-7164, paras 49, 51, 54. 
337 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 28, referring to DAR-OTP-0215-7164, paras 13, 49-56, 

57-62. 
338 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 28, referring to DAR-OTP-0215-7164, paras 45, 47-50, 

52-62. 
339 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 28, referring to DAR-OTP-0215-7164. 
340 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 28, referring to DAR-OTP-0215-7164, paras 45, 47-50, 

52-62. 
341 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 28, referring to DAR-OTP-0215-7164, para. 63. 
342 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 28, referring to DAR-OTP-0215-7164, paras 63-64. 
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175. The Chamber notes the agreed facts relating to the background of the accused,343 

and that these facts are supported by P-0895.344 The Chamber also notes the 

Prosecution’s submission that the evidence of P-0895 is corroborative of and 

cumulative to that of other witnesses who will testify entirely viva voce on the alleged 

arrest of civilians in Garsila by the accused and his men;345 the alleged killing of a group 

of detainees in an area outside of Deleig near Fere.346  

176. As regards the acts and conduct of the accused, and in addition to the conclusions 

set out previously by the Chamber,347 the Chamber notes the Prosecution’s submission 

that the evidence of P-0895 on the alleged leadership position of the accused in the 

Militia/Janjaweed,348 and his alleged recruitment, training, arming, funding and 

distribution of other resources to the Militia/Janjaweed by the Government of Sudan,349 

is corroborative of and cumulative to that of other witnesses who will testify entirely 

viva voce. 

177. Although parts of P-0895’s evidence on the identity and background of the 

accused are corroborative of and cumulative to that of other witnesses who will testify 

entirely viva voce,350 P-0895 does seem to provide information that is detailed and 

sufficiently unique in character relating to Ali Kushayb’s pharmacy in Garsila;351 his 

purported military background;352 and his alleged identity, physical description, tribal 

affiliation and family;353 owing to his [REDACTED].354 

                                                 

343 Annex A to the Third Joint Prosecution and Defence Submission on Agreed facts, ICC-02/05-01/20-

504-AnxA. 
344 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 98. 
345 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 96, referring to P-0643, P-0973, P-0987, P-0994 

and P-0883. 
346 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 97, referring to P-0643, P-0671, P-0879, P-0883, P-

0907, P-0973, P-0987, P-0994 and P-1018. 
347 See First Rule 68(3) Decision, ICC-02/05-01/20-559-Conf, paras 20-25; Third Rule 68(3) Decision, 

ICC-02/05-01/20-602-Conf, para. 7.  
348 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 97, referring to P-0012, P-0029, P-0129, P-0131, P-

0589, P-0643, P-0718, P-0874, P-0878, P-0883, P-0885, P-0903, P-0905, P-0907, P-0921, P-0987, P-

0994 and P-1021. 
349 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 100, referring to P-0011, P-0012, P-0029, P-0131, 

P-0547, P-0643, P-0878, P-0883, P-0885, P-0905, P-0921, P-0992, P-0984, P-0994 and P-1021. 
350 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 97, referring to P-0012, P-0117, P-0589, P-0643, P-

0769, P-0874, P-0878, P-0879, P-0883, P-0903, P-0905, P-0907, P-0921, P-0932, P-0973, P-0986, P-

0987, P-0990 and P-0994. 
351 DAR-OTP-0215-7164, paras 57-62. 
352 DAR-OTP-0215-7164, paras 45, 47-50, 52, 57. 
353 DAR-OTP-0215-7164, paras 13, 49-56, 57-63. 
354 DAR-OTP-0215-7164, paras 49, 51, 54. 
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178. The aforesaid factors are not, per se, an obstacle to authorising the introduction 

of evidence under Rule 68(3) of the Rules, in the instant case, P-0895’s evidence 

appears to be in this aspect unique and different to that of other witnesses expected to 

testify about the accused and his identity. Accordingly, the Chamber, in this particular 

circumstance, determines that it is preferable that the entirety of P-0895’s evidence is 

heard viva voce. 

P-0926 

179. P-0926, a Fur civilian [REDACTED], provides evidence relating to the 

contextual elements of the crimes.355  

180. As regards the accused, the witness’s evidence refers to his identity and 

background; his alleged leadership in the Militia/Janjaweed; cooperation with the 

Government of Sudan; and role in the execution of two civilians and the Garsila Popular 

Defence Forces coordinator in and around Deleig.356 

181. The Prosecution submits that it also seeks introduction of P-0926’s prior recorded 

testimony pursuant to Rule 68(3) of the Rules to prevent potential re-traumatisation of 

the witness, who is a victim of rape (although not within the scope of the charges).357 

182. Together with the witness statement, the Prosecution seeks the submission of 

associated material, namely a sketch drawn by P-0926.358 

183. The Prosecution requests one hour to conduct a supplementary examination 

(instead of the three hours estimated for viva voce examination).359 

184. The Defence objects to the introduction of this prior recorded testimony pursuant 

to Rule 68(3) of the Rules, noting parts of the statement which refer to the identity, 

background, position of authority of the accused in the Militia/Janjaweed, and his 

individual criminal responsibility.360 The Defence notes that P-0926 [REDACTED] 

Garsila in 2002.361  

                                                 

355 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 87. 
356 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 87. 
357 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 88, referring to DAR-OTP-0218-0738, paras 79-86. 
358 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 89 and Annex A. 
359 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, paras 90-91. 
360 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 29, referring to DAR-OTP-0218-0738, paras 16-25, 29. 
361 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 29, referring to DAR-OTP-0218-0738, para. 16. 
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185. The Defence submits that P-0926’s description of Ali Kushayb’s role and actions 

as the leader of the Militia/Janjaweed is essentially based on hearsay information.362 

The Defence notes that P-0926’s evidence relating to the alleged responsibility of Ali 

Kushayb for the attack on Sindu is based on hearsay and overheard conversation of Ali 

Kushayb,363 and evidence on Ali Kushayb’s role in the murder or persons detained in 

Garsila is based on hearsay.364 

186. The Chamber notes the agreed facts relating to the background of the accused,365 

and that these facts are supported by P-0926.366  

187. As regards the alleged incidents in Deleig, the Chamber notes the Prosecution’s 

submission that the evidence of P-0926 is corroborative of and cumulative to that of 

other witnesses who will testify entirely viva voce on: the arrest of civilians in Garsila 

by the accused and his men;367 the killing of a group of detainees in an area outside of 

Deleig near Fere;368 the identity and background of the accused;369 the senior leadership 

position of the accused in the Militia/Janjaweed.370 

188. As regards the identity and background of the accused, the Chamber notes the 

Prosecution’s submission that the evidence of P-0926 is corroborative of and 

cumulative to that of other witnesses who will testify entirely viva voce on the identity 

and background of the accused.371 The Chamber further notes that in paragraphs 16 to 

                                                 

362 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 29, referring to DAR-OTP-0218-0738, paras 20, 26-37. 
363 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 29, referring to DAR-OTP-0218-0738, paras 45-49. 
364 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 29, referring to DAR-OTP-0218-0738, paras 65-78. 
365 Annex A to the Third Joint Prosecution and Defence Submission on Agreed facts, ICC-02/05-01/20-

504-AnxA. 
366 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 98. 
367 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 96, referring to P-0643, P-0973, P-0987, P-0994 

and P-0883. 
368 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 97, referring to P-0643, P-0671, P-0879, P-0883, P-

0907, P-0973, P-0987, P-0994 and P-1018. 
369 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 97, referring to P-0012, P-0117, P-0589, P-0643, P-

0769, P-0874, P-0878, P-0879, P-0883, P-0903, P-0905, P-0907, P-0921, P-0932, P-0973, P-0986, P-

0987, P-0990 and P-0994. 
370 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 97, referring to P-0012, P-0029, P-0129, P-0131, P-

0589, P-0643, P-0718, P-0874, P-0878, P-0883, P-0885, P-0903, P-0905, P-0907, P-0921, P-0987, P-

0994 and P-1021. 
371 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 97, referring to P-0012, P-0117, P-0589, P-0643, P-

0769, P-0874, P-0878, P-0879, P-0883, P-0903, P-0905, P-0907, P-0921, P-0932, P-0973, P-0986, P-

0987, P-0990 and P-0994. 
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35, as referred to by the Defence, P-0926 provides detailed information about the 

identity and background of Ali Kushayb [REDACTED].372 

189. As regards the acts and conduct of the accused, and in addition to the conclusions 

set out previously by the Chamber,373 the Chamber notes the Prosecution’s submission 

that the evidence of P-0926 on the involvement of the accused in the recruitment, 

training, arming, funding and distribution of other resources to the Militia/Janjaweed 

by the Government of Sudan,374 is corroborative of and cumulative to that of other 

witnesses who will testify entirely viva voce. The Chamber notes that P-0926 on one 

occasion saw and heard Ali Kushayb instructing the Militia/Janjaweed 

[REDACTED].375 This evidence seems unique and significant. Other than the aforesaid 

evidence, the Chamber notes that P-0926’s evidence on Ali Kushayb’s role in the 

Militia/Janjaweed and the distribution of weapons to the Militia/Janjaweed is 

essentially based on hearsay.376 Furthermore, P-0926’s evidence on the attack on Sindu 

allegedly led by Ali Kushayb is based on an overheard conversation.377 

190. As regards the alleged arrests in Garsila prior to the alleged events at Deleig, the 

Chamber notes that, with the exception of witnessing the alleged arrest of two 

individuals by Ali Kushayb,378 the witness’s evidence is based on hearsay information 

and assumption.379 

191. The Chamber notes that P-0926 was raped [REDACTED].380 The Prosecution 

submits that these acts are uncharged in this case and that the introduction of P-0926’s 

evidence under Rule 68(3) of the Rules would prevent the potential re-traumatisation 

of the witness if she had to repeat her full account in the courtroom.381 The Defence 

submits that this argument is devoid of merit since her rape is not charged in the present 

                                                 

372 DAR-OTP-0218-0738, paras 16-25. 
373 See First Rule 68(3) Decision, ICC-02/05-01/20-559-Conf, paras 20-25; Third Rule 68(3) Decision, 

ICC-02/05-01/20-602-Conf, para. 7.  
374 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 100, referring to P-0011, P-0012, P-0029, P-0131, 

P-0547, P-0643, P-0878, P-0883, P-0885, P-0905, P-0921, P-0992, P-0984, P-0994 and P-1021. 
375 DAR-OTP-0218-0738, para. 47. 
376 DAR-OTP-0218-0738, paras 20, 26-37. 
377 DAR-OTP-0218-0738, paras 45-49. 
378 See DAR-OTP-0218-0738, paras 65-67. 
379 DAR-OTP-0218-0738, paras 65-78. 
380 DAR-OTP-0218-0738, paras 55, 79-96. 
381 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 88. 
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case and it does not need to be addressed at all during P-0926’s examination-in-chief.382 

The Chamber recalls that it may authorise introduction of witness statement under Rule 

68(3) of the Rules if it could prevent potential re-traumatisation of a vulnerable 

witness.383 

192. Although the factors discussed above are not, per se, an obstacle to authorising 

the introduction of evidence under Rule 68(3) of the Rules, in the instant case, P-0926’s 

evidence on the identity of the accused and the alleged arrests in Garsila prior to the 

alleged events at Deleig appear to be sufficiently detailed and unique. 

193. As regards the issue of re-traumatisation, there is no reason why P-0926 should 

be asked to recount the event of her rape nor be made to rehearse the full content of the 

prior statement in court, given the fact that her rape does not form part of the charges. 

Accordingly, the Chamber, in this particular circumstance, is satisfied that her evidence 

should be heard viva voce. 

P-0980 

194. P-0980, a Fur civilian, provides evidence on the alleged incidents in Deleig and 

surrounding areas, particularly in relation to the charges of murder, torture and 

persecution.384 

195. As regards the accused, the witness’s evidence refers to him allegedly beating 

detainees while they were lying face down in front of Deleig police station and directly 

killing two of them.385 

196. Together with the witness statement, the Prosecution seeks the submission of 

associated material, namely a document showing illustrations of different types of 

aircraft, a document showing Sudanese military ranks and insignia, and a sketch drawn 

by P-0980.386 

197. The Prosecution requests one hour to conduct a supplementary examination 

(instead of the three hours estimated for viva voce examination).387 

                                                 

382 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 29. 
383 First Rule 68(3) Decision, ICC-02/05-01/20-559-Conf, para. 15. 
384 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 92. 
385 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 92. 
386 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 93 and Annex A. 
387 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, paras 94-95. 
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198. The Defence objects to the introduction of this prior recorded testimony pursuant 

to Rule 68(3) of the Rules, noting parts of the statement which refer to the identity, 

background, position of authority in the Militia/Janjaweed, and individual criminal 

responsibility of Ali Kushayb for the charged crimes in Deleig. The Defence refers to 

P-0980’s evidence on individuals being referred to as belonging/working for Ali 

Kushayb,388 Ali Kushayb beating two detainees at Deleig police station on 5 March 

2004,389 Ali Kushayb’s conversation with Ahmad Harun in Deleig after the said 

beatings,390 and issuance of orders by Ali Kushayb following his discussion with 

Ahmad Harun.391 The Defence also notes the clarification provided by P-0980 in 

relation to information contained in a screening note.392 

199. The Chamber notes the Prosecution’s submission that the evidence of P-0980 is 

corroborative of and cumulative to that of other witnesses who will testify entirely viva 

voce on the search and arrest of Fur men displaced to Deleig from the surrounding 

areas;393 the detention and mistreatment of Fur civilian men in the open area near Deleig 

police station;394 the mistreatment of detainees by the accused in the open area near 

Deleig police station;395 the loading of detainees onto vehicles, which drove out of 

Deleig and returned empty, and the repeating of this process multiple times;396 the 

survival of several persons who were taken to execution sites;397 and the sighting of a 

group of community leaders in a convoy with the accused in Deleig;398 

200. The Chamber notes that P-0980’s evidence on the alleged incidents in Deleig is 

not unique or otherwise particularly significant in the body of the expected evidence on 

this incident. As such, P-0980’s evidence on Ali Kushayb allegedly beating two 

                                                 

388 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 30, referring to DAR-OTP-0221-0553, para. 24. 
389 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 30, referring to DAR-OTP-0221-0553, paras 17-18, 21, 

24, 28. 
390 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 30, referring to DAR-OTP-0221-0553, paras 25-27. 
391 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 30, referring to DAR-OTP-0221-0553, para. 27. 
392 Response, ICC-02/05-01/20-601-Conf, para. 30, referring to DAR-OTP-0221-0553, para. 24. See 

DAR-OTP-0219-4793, p. 3. 
393 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 96, referring to P-0584, P-0671, P-0718, P-0907, P-

0924, P-0973, P-0987 and P-0994. 
394 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 96, referring to P-0584, P-0671, P-0718, P-0879, P-

0905, P-0907, P-0924, P-0931, P-0973, P-0987 and P-0994. 
395 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 96, referring to P-0584, P-0671, P-0879, P-0907, P-

0924, P-0973 and P-0994. 
396 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 96, referring to P-0584, P-0879, P-0905, P-0907, P-

0924, P-0973, P-0987 and P-0994. 
397 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 96, referring to P-0584, P-0907, P-0924 and P-0987. 
398 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 96, referring to P-0907, P-0973, P-0987 and P-0994. 
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detainees at Deleig police station,399 –highlighted by the Defence in its Response– is 

also not unique, and is corroborative of and cumulative to that of other witnesses who 

will testify entirely viva voce on the mistreatment of detainees by the accused in the 

open area near Deleig police station.400 

201. As regards P-0980’s evidence on Ali Kushayb’s alleged conversation with 

Ahmad Harun in Deleig after the abovementioned beatings and Ali Kushayb issuing 

orders to the Militia/Janjaweed and soldiers following this conversation,401 the 

Chamber notes that P-0980’s evidence is direct. However, the Chamber also notes P-

0984’s evidence is cumulative to that of other witnesses and not particularly significant 

in light of the larger body of evidence on the accused’s senior leadership position in the 

Militia/Janjaweed,402 and his cooperation with the Government of Sudan.403 

Specifically, the Chamber notes that because of his status [REDACTED].404  

202. The Chamber is satisfied that the introduction of P-0980’s prior recorded 

testimony will not occasion any prejudice to the accused since Rule 68(3) of the Rules 

allows for cross-examination. The Defence will have ample opportunity to question the 

witness on issues identified as core to its case, particularly in relation to P-0980, the 

witness’s evidence as regards the accused’s alleged actions at Deleig police station. 

D. Timing and scope of supplementary examination and cross-

examination  

203. As regards the timing of supplementary examination, and bearing in mind the 

object and purpose of Rule 68(3) of the Rules, the Prosecution must streamline its 

examination in order to complete the formalities under this provision and conduct any 

supplementary questioning of each witness within the estimated hour requested.  

                                                 

399 DAR-OTP-0221-0553, para. 24. 
400 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 96, referring to P-0584, P-0671, P-0879, P-0907, P-

0924, P-0973 and P-0994. 
401 DAR-OTP-0221-0553, paras 25-27. 
402 Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 97, referring to P-0012, P-0029, P-0129, P-0131, P-

0589, P-0643, P-0718, P-0874, P-0878, P-0883, P-0885, P-0903, P-0905, P-0907, P-0921, P-0987, P-

0994 and P-1021. 
403 See Sixth Request, ICC-02/05-01/20-580-Conf, para. 100, referring to P-0011, P-0012, P-0029, P-

0131, P-0547, P-0643, P-0878, P-0883, P-0885, P-0905, P-0921, P-0992, P-0984, P-0994 and P-1021. 
404 DAR-OTP-0221-0553, para. 27.  
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204. As anticipated in the Directions on the conduct of proceedings,405 the Chamber 

will issue, in due course, a decision on the overall length and timing of the presentation 

of evidence by the Prosecution, and consequently the overall length and timing for the 

Defence’s cross-examination of witnesses to be called by the Prosecution. 

205. For the reasons above, and given the nature and content of the witness statements 

and associated material, the Chamber rejects the request in respect of P-0027, P-0585, 

P-0894, P-0895 and P-0926, and authorises the introduction of the prior recorded 

testimonies of witnesses: P-0059, P-0060, P-0091, P-0106, P-0119, P-0592, P-0607, P-

0617, P-0651, P-0697, P-0712, P-0725, P-0726, P-0736, P-0850 and P-0980, identified 

in the Sixth Request and its annex, pursuant to Rule 68(3) of the Rules. The Chamber’s 

preliminary ruling is subject to witnesses’ appearance before the Chamber and their 

consent to the introduction of their testimony pursuant to this provision.  

 

 

 

 

________________________ 

Judge Joanna Korner 

                      Presiding Judge 

 

      _________________________             _______________________ 

      Judge Reine Alapini-Gansou        Judge Althea Violet Alexis-Windsor 

 

Dated this 16 March 2022 

At The Hague, The Netherlands 

                                                 

405 Directions on the conduct of proceedings, ICC-02/05-01/20-478, para. 22.  
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